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ELECTRO RENT 2010 ANNUAL REPORT

FISCAL 2010 WAS A WATERSHED YEAR FOR ELECTRO RENT. IT WAS A

YEAR OF MUSCLE BUILDING AND POSITIVE TRANSFORMATION, STRATEGIC

ACQUISITIONS AND SMART ALLIANCES, ALL AMIDST THE BACKDROP OF AN

UNEVEN, YET RECOVERING ECONOMY. OUR PERFORMANCE WAS SOLID; WE

SHARPENED OUR COMPETITIVE EDGE; AND, IMPORTANTLY, SET THE STAGE

FOR GROWTH AND A PROSPEROUS FUTURE.

DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:
Test equipment on rent grew significantly during the year, up nearly 33%, with equipment
utilization near record highs. Equipment sales were particularly strong, even as results
for our leasing business were mixed. Although our data products business declined
from fiscal 2009 levels, this segment strengthened during the last three months of the
fiscal year as the event, training and convention markets began to recover. Our European
operation performed admirably, and we made the decision to put more resources to
work there, even though these expansion activities somewhat muted our near term
profit potential. Our Asian activities were restrained by the lackluster environment for
manufacturing, our primary rental sector, and hampered growth there for Electro Rent
and our industry.

That said, the key highlights of the year were reflected in our selection by Agilent
Technologies as their sole Authorized Technology Partner for the United States and
Canada, and our acquisition of electronic test equipment provider, Telogy LLC, which
firmly set us on a path for renewed growth and the potential for continued success.

IMPROVED PERFORMANCE

Revenues rose nearly 12% in fiscal 2010, to $145.9 million from $130.5 million last year,
primarily driven by considerable growth in equipment sales. Our Agilent partnership,
and an aggressive inventory reduction program aimed at reducing our supply of older
equipment, helped elevate sales of equipment and other revenues by 61%, to $51.7
million for fiscal 2010 from $32.1 million for fiscal 2009. Rental and lease revenues
decreased 4% to $94.2 million for fiscal 2010 from $98.4 million in the year-ago period.

Operating profit improved to $18.4 million for fiscal 2010 from $17.4 million last fiscal
year, including the impact of a $0.7 million one-time bargain purchase gain related to
the Telogy acquisition.

During fiscal 2010, we reaped the benefits of prior cost reduction programs which better
aligned our operating structure with the surrounding economic environment, while
maintaining our competitive strength. Selling, general and administrative expenses
increased by only 4% to $46.4 million for fiscal 2010, compared with $44.5 million for
fiscal 2009, a significant achievement in light of the strategic investments we made in
the second half of the year to solidify and grow our business for the long-term.
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Net income for fiscal 2010 was $11.6 million, or $0.48 per diluted share, compared with
$11.8 million, or $0.47 per diluted share, last year. Earnings before income taxes for
fiscal 2010 increased 6% to $20.0 million from $18.9 million last year. Our effective tax
rate was 42.1% for fiscal 2010, compared with 37.5% for fiscal 2009.

The fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, in particular, was very gratifying. Net income rose 70%
to $3.4 million, or $0.14 per diluted share, on sales growth of 47%, marking the first
time we’ve seen increases of this magnitude since the beginning of the recession. Our
successes during the final three months of the fiscal year are propelling Electro Rent
forward as we begin fiscal 2011 with great excitement.

FINANCIAL MIGHT

Our large existing cash position gave us the strength and agility necessary to seize
the opportunity to acquire Telogy. We acted swiftly to purchase Telogy’s assets for
$24.7 million, which was less than book value, providing a great catalyst for our own
business and keeping their in-demand equipment inventory out of our competitors’
hands. To meet the increased needs of our customers, we also made additional rental
equipment purchases of $57.0 million during fiscal 2010. At the same time, we returned
$14.4 million to shareholders in the form of continued, regular quarterly dividends.

These actions were completed using internally-generated cash flows, without taking on
debt. Our cash position remains strong and continues to afford us the flexibility and
means to explore additional opportunities that will benefit both customers and share-
holders. In addition, our ability to borrow additional funds, if necessary, to fuel our
growth is well within our grasp. Cash, cash equivalents and investments totaled
$47.2 million at the end of fiscal 2010, compared with $72.0 million at the end of fiscal
2009. Shareholders’ equity improved to $230.0 million, or $9.60 per share, from $228.8
million, or $9.55 per share, at the end of the prior year. Subsequent to May 31, 2010,
our auction rate securities were completely liquidated at par value.
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WITH IMPROVED ACCESS TO DECISION MAKERS, RESOURCES AND

SUPPORT WE ARE IN A GREAT POSITION TO FURTHER ENHANCE OUR LEADING

POSITION IN THE TEST AND MEASUREMENT EQUIPMENT MARKET.

WE ARE TOUCHING MORE CUSTOMERS THAN EVER BEFORE, PROVIDING

A DIFFERENT DEGREE OF TECHNICAL STRENGTH AND HELP, AND ARE

MOVING DEEP INTO THEIR ORGANIZATIONS, NOTICEABLY DISTANCING

OURSELVES FROM THE APPROACH THAT OTHERS IN OUR INDUSTRY

GENERALLY EMPLOY.
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We are proud of the fact that Electro Rent was recognized as one of the “100 Most
Trustworthy Companies” by Forbes magazine for the second consecutive year. The
annual survey recognizes companies for consistently demonstrating transparent and
conservative accounting practices and solid corporate governance and management.
We are honored to be recognized among the more than 8,000 publicly traded
companies for our conservative and transparent financial practices.

COMPETITIVE EDGE

Our strategic purchase of Telogy helped us in several important ways. We substantially
upgraded our equipment base with equipment that is limited in supply but growing in
demand, enhancing our ability to meet the needs of a wide range of customers. We
expanded our customer base and brought additional strength to our sales organization.
Finally, we did not have to buy additional new equipment at higher prices. The integration
with Telogy was extremely smooth with all of their equipment moved to Electro Rent’s
facilities within 24 hours of the acquisition closing, and our respective systems seamlessly
working together within two weeks. The strength of our balance sheet and quick
decision-making gave us a significant competitive advantage that we are fully utilizing.

GAME-CHANGING PARTNERSHIP

Our new partnership with Agilent is well underway. We are now managing, selling and
servicing new Agilent equipment to a broad array of customers. Even though our
agreement is still in the early stages of implementation, by the end of our fiscal year we
had achieved real progress, as key gains were made in enhanced capabilities, increased
market share, and improved financial results.
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WE ARE PROUD OF THE FACT THAT ELECTRO RENT WAS RECOGNIZED

AS ONE OF THE “100 MOST TRUSTWORTHY COMPANIES” BY FORBES

MAGAZINE FOR THE SECOND CONSECUTIVE YEAR. THE ANNUAL SURVEY

RECOGNIZES COMPANIES FOR CONSISTENTLY DEMONSTRATING

TRANSPARENT AND CONSERVATIVE ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND

SOLID CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT.

The Agilent relationship is important for a number of reasons, not the least of which is
our ability to help Agilent gain better access to an important segment of their customer
base throughout the U.S. and in Canada. In addition to selling Agilent equipment to this
group, we are now able to offer rental and lease opportunities for Agilent equipment
as more and more companies seek out alternatives to purchasing. As one of the
world's oldest, largest and most well respected providers of rental and lease test and
measurement equipment, this compelling combination is unique to our joint partnership.

To quickly build the foundation necessary for the success of our partnership and
ensure that we can provide all of our customers with superior service, we made serious
commitments to grow our sales organization not only in numbers but in breadth of
knowledge. We hired more than 30 people, many of whom have at least two decades
of industry experience and substantial technical expertise, building one of the largest
new technology sales forces in the United States, and allowing us to fundamentally
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change how we sell in the marketplace. We are touching more customers than ever
before, providing a different degree of technical strength and help, and are moving
deep into their organizations, noticeably distancing ourselves from the approach that
others in our industry generally employ.

Simply put, we now have a wealth of opportunities that did not exist when we
were focused primarily on equipment rentals. With improved access to decision makers,
resources and support we are in a great position to further enhance our leading
position in the test and measurement equipment market.

GREAT PROMISE AHEAD
We are excited with the progress we have made in transforming the way Electro Rent
does business and our new ability to expand our addressable markets, while strengthening
our business and snapping up strategic opportunities. Plans and initiatives are in place
to make the very most of our powerful sales team, large customer base and diverse
capabilities. Our energy and dedication have gone into overdrive as we continue focusing
on becoming the “go to” company for all test and measurement equipment needs.

This is a very compelling time in Electro Rent’s history, with our competitive edge being
reinforced with a solid business plan and strong and tenured team. We have the potential
today, and a terrific opportunity, to expand our business model, and are working
vigorously to fully utilize our talent and experience.

To our fellow shareholders, thank you for your ongoing support of our efforts. To our
partners and customers, we greatly appreciate your continued trust and loyalty. To
the entire Electro Rent team, we applaud your hard work and determination, which has
allowed us to move gracefully and with purpose through a challenging period to one
of great promise. Keep in touch as we start the next leg of our journey through what
we believe will be our “breakout” year in fiscal 2011.

Daniel Greenberg Steven Markheim
Chairman and President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Operating Officer

August 10, 2010

AS ONE OF THE WORLD'S OLDEST, LARGEST AND MOST WELL RESPECTED

PROVIDERS OF RENTAL AND LEASE TEST AND MEASUREMENT EQUIPMENT,

THIS COMPELLING COMBINATION IS UNIQUE TO OUR JOINT PARTNERSHIP.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. You can find many (but not all) of these 
statements by looking for words such as “approximates,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” 
“plans,” “would,” “may” or other similar expressions in this Report. We claim the protection of the safe harbor contained in 
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We caution investors that any forward-looking statements presented 
in this Report, or that we may make orally or in writing from time to time, are based on the beliefs of, assumptions made 
by, and information currently available to, us. Such statements are based on assumptions, and the actual outcome will be 
affected by known and unknown risks, trends, uncertainties and factors that are beyond our control or ability to predict. 
Although we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, they are not guarantees of future performance and some will 
inevitably prove to be incorrect. As a result, our actual future results can be expected to differ from our expectations, and 
those differences may be material. Accordingly, investors should use caution in relying on past forward-looking 
statements, which are based on known results and trends at the time they are made, to anticipate future results or trends.  

Some of the risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially 
from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements include the following: common stock price fluctuations, 
fluctuations in operating results (including as a result of changing economic conditions), risks associated with technology 
changes, risks associated with customer solvency, competition, risks associated with international operations, risks 
associated with our manufacturers and suppliers, dependence on key personnel, control by management and others, 
risks associated with possible acquisitions and new business ventures and anti-takeover provisions. For further discussion 
of these and other factors, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors”, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations”; and Item 7A “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Interest Rates and 
Currency Rates,” in this Report, and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

This Report and all subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our 
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. We do 
not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to our forward-looking statements to reflect events or 
circumstances after the date of this Report.  

Unless otherwise noted (1) the terms “we,” “us,” and “our,” refer to Electro Rent Corporation and its subsidiaries, and (2) 
the terms “Common Stock” and “shareholder(s)” refer to our common stock and the holders of that stock, respectively.  
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PART I

  
Item 1. Business.   

We are one of the largest global organizations devoted to the rental, lease and sale of new and used electronic test and 
measurement (“T&M”) equipment. We purchase that equipment from leading manufacturers such as Agilent 
Technologies, Inc. (“Agilent”) and Tektronix primarily for use by our customers in the aerospace, defense, 
telecommunications, electronics, industrial and semiconductor industries. Although it represents only approximately 13% 
of our revenues in fiscal 2010, we believe our data products (“DP”) division is one of the largest rental companies in the 
United States for personal computers and servers from manufacturers including Dell, HP/Compaq, IBM and Toshiba. We 
have also recently expanded our efforts in the rental, lease and sale of industrial equipment such as electrical test 
equipment and inspection equipment.  

The Electro Rent Approach. For the most part, customers who purchase or lease equipment from us place orders 
through our inside sales force, which has access to our proprietary computer system that is updated in real time for 
equipment availability and pricing. In the case of rentals and some leases, we generally use a pool of equipment we have 
previously purchased for that purpose or we may add equipment to that pool to fill a lease or rental order if the addition 
makes sense. Our equipment fulfillment team typically can arrange delivery of equipment from our pool to our customers 
within one or two days of a request. Most of our equipment is technically complex and must be calibrated and serviced 
when returned to us. We do most of that calibration in house, using a team of experienced technicians and our state of the 
art calibration laboratory.  

Although our customers respond to equipment pricing and availabilities in making their decisions to choose to work with 
us, we believe that our success also depends on other factors:  

• Customer Responsiveness. Our customer service, responsiveness and expert technical staff provide us a key 
competitive advantage. Our new Authorized Technology Partnership (“ATP”) sales agreement with Agilent, for the 
United States and Canada, has enabled us to substantially expand the number and technical expertise of our T&M 
sales force, which at approximately 73 persons is the largest among our principal competitors. Our management team 
is the most experienced and stable in the industry, averaging 25 years at Electro Rent. Forbes magazine named us as 
one of their “100 Most Trustworthy Companies” out of the more than 8,000 publicly traded companies for what Forbes 
termed “transparent and conservative accounting practices and solid corporate governance and management.”  

• Global Platform. Although our customers represent a cross-section of the economy, much of our business is 
conducted with large companies in the aerospace and defense, semiconductor, electronics and telecommunications 
industries. As the largest T&M rental, leasing and sales company in North America, and one of the only rental 
companies in the world with a global platform and key locations in the US, Canada, China and Europe, our size and 
reach appeals to our multinational customers and assists us in maximizing our equipment utilization and inventory 
management across different geographic markets.  

• Multichannel Offerings. In the last two years, we have expanded our business to offer customers a single source for 
their equipment acquisitions, whether they want to rent, lease or buy new or used equipment. We believe that we offer 
the greatest breadth of acquisition options in the industry, allowing our customers to match the appropriate option to 
their usage and capital and other factors, such as accounting rules and regulatory requirements. In addition, spreading 
costs over multiple channels allows us to maintain the largest sales force among our principal competitors, which in 
turn broadens and deepens our customer contacts and provides them more technical strength and assistance.  

• Deep Vendor Relationships. We have worked to develop and maintain strong relationships with the major 
manufacturers of equipment, who are our principal suppliers. We build these relationships not only on our rental and 
leasing activities, which makes us one of the largest customers of these manufacturers, but also by partnering with our 
vendors to sell their products. By maintaining close relationships with multiple vendors, we can help our customers 
select the right equipment for their needs, better fill customer orders for equipment with long lead-times, and 
understand product development trends which tend to shape the nature of the demands of our rental and leasing 
customers as well as the prices for our used equipment.  
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• Dynamic Inventory Management Systems. To maximize our overall profit from the rental, leasing, and sales of 
equipment, we manage our equipment pool on an on-going basis by controlling the timing, pricing and mix of our 
purchases and sales. We acquire new and used equipment to meet current technological standards and current and 
anticipated customer demand, and we sell our used equipment where we believe that is the most lucrative option. We 
employ a complex equipment management strategy and our proprietary PERFECT™ software to adjust our inventory 
and pricing on a dynamic basis in order to maximize equipment availability, utilization and profitability. We manage 
each specific equipment class based on a separate assessment of that equipment’s historical and projected life cycle 
and numerous other factors, including the U.S. and global economy, interest rates and new product launches.  

Our Strategic Growth Initiatives. We believe that our resources and financial infrastructure remain capable of handling a 
significantly greater volume of business activity without a proportionate increase in expenses. Based on this belief, we 
have been seeking ways to increase revenues to leverage that infrastructure through internal growth and external 
acquisitions. These strategies include:  

• Sales and Distribution Channel Initiative. Beginning in fiscal 2007, we have been expanding our business by adding 
new equipment sales channels to our rental, leasing and used equipment sales offerings. In addition to adding revenue 
and expanding our sales organization, we can capture related rental and lease opportunities and provide customers 
with a full range of equipment acquisition options. Our ATP agreement with Agilent, commencing in fiscal 2010, gives 
us the exclusive right to sell Agilent’s more complex T&M equipment to small to medium size customers (who 
previously purchased directly from Agilent) in the United States and Canada.  

• Equipment Pool Expansion Initiatives. Despite the global economic downturn, we have used our strong balance 
sheet to make significant equipment purchases to meet T&M rental demand, support areas of potential growth and 
keep our equipment pool technologically up-to-date. In response to increasing customer demand, we increased our 
purchases of equipment during fiscal 2010 by 54% compared to fiscal 2009, including $22.9 million of equipment 
acquired in our purchase of the assets of Telogy, LLC (“Telogy”) in March 2010. As a result, we have been able to 
expand and upgrade our equipment base with equipment that is limited in supply but growing in demand, enhancing 
our ability to meet the needs of a wide range of customers, as well as expand our equipment pool offerings in some 
related areas such as telecom and industrial products business.  

• Vendor Leasing Initiative. In fiscal 2009, we began an initiative to develop a substantial worldwide T&M leasing 
program by partnering with Agilent, Ixia, JDSU and other major manufacturers. These relationships have expanded our 
leasing program and enhanced our ability to meet the needs of our customers by offering competitive finance and 
operating leases.  

Our Markets and Competition. The North American general purpose test equipment rental market has generated in 
excess of $200 million of annual rental and lease revenue in a normal economic environment, and is characterized by 
intense competition from several large competitors. Although no single competitor holds a dominant market share in North 
America, our primary competitors in the T&M rental area include McGrath Rent Corp., Continental Resources, Test 
Equity, and Microlease plc. We compete for rental business with Microlease plc and Livingston Group Ltd. in Europe and 
Orix Corporation in Asia. These entities also compete with us in leasing T&M equipment, as do banks, vendors and other 
financing sources. In addition, in selling our equipment, we may also compete with sales of new equipment by our  
suppliers, including Agilent and Tektronix, and their other distributors. Our competitors engage in aggressive pricing for 
both rentals and sales, as well as offering customers extended warranties in excess of the underlying manufacturers’ 
warranties and other services. In order to maintain or increase our market share, we may choose to lower our prices, 
resulting in lower revenues and decreased profitability.  

The market for the lease and rental of computers and servers is highly fragmented, although our principal competitors 
include SmartSource Computer & Audio Visual Rentals, Rent-A-Computer, ICC Rents, Source One Rentals, PC Rentals, 
Rentex and CRE Rentals. The computer rental market has been characterized by intense competition that has lead to 
industry consolidation. We acquired two competitors during the last fifteen years and SmartSource, our largest competitor, 
has expanded primarily due to its eighteen acquisitions. While we have focused on the rental of large quantities of 
computers to unique customers, SmartSource concentrates more on audio visual and trade show technology rentals.  
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Our Backlog. As of May 31, 2010, we had an order backlog of $9.7 million, the result of sales in connection with our ATP 
sales agreement. There was no such backlog in fiscal 2009. We expect that a majority of the backlog will be delivered to 
customers within six months of our fiscal year end.  

Backlog represents the cumulative balance, at a given point in time, of recorded customer sales orders that have not yet 
been shipped or recognized as sales. Backlog is increased when an order is received, and backlog is decreased when we 
recognize sales. Although backlog consists of firm orders for which goods and services are yet to be provided, customers 
can, and sometimes do, terminate or modify these orders. Backlog, on any particular date, while indicative of short-term 
revenue performance, is not necessarily a reliable indicator of medium or long-term revenue performance.  

Other Information about Us. The following table shows, for each of the last three fiscal years, revenues from rentals and 
leases and sales of equipment and other revenues for our T&M and DP operating segments:  

Years ended May 31,  T&M  DP  Total 
2010  

     

Rentals and leases  $ 77,874

 

$ 16,327

  

$ 94,201

 

Sales of equipment and other revenues  49,282

  

2,384

  

51,666

   

$ 127,156

 

$ 18,711

  

$ 145,867

 

2009  

     

Rentals and leases  $ 77,430

 

$ 20,965

  

$ 98,395

 

Sales of equipment and other revenues  29,054

  

3,032

  

32,086

   

$ 106,484

 

$ 23,997

  

$ 130,481

 

2008    
Rentals and leases  $ 85,209

 

$ 23,552

  

$ 108,761

 

Sales of equipment and other revenues  32,458

  

3,317

  

35,775

   

$ 117,667

 

$ 26,869

  

$ 144,536

  

The majority of our rental equipment inventory is located at our Van Nuys, California warehouse and is serviced by an 
ISO9001:2000 and AS9100 Revision B registered and compliant laboratory. We also service our customers through sales 
offices and calibration and service centers in the United States, Canada, China and Europe, which are linked by a 
proprietary on-line computer system. These centers also function as depots for the sale of used equipment. For risks 
relating to our foreign operations, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Associated with International Operations.”  

For additional financial information about our segments and our geographic areas, see Note 16 to our consolidated 
financial statements included in this Form 10-K.  

Our business is relatively non-seasonal except for the third quarter months of December, January and February, when 
rental activity declines due to extended holiday closings by a number of customers. In addition, because February is a 
short month, rental billing is reduced.  

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues during fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008. We do not 
derive any significant portion of our revenues from direct United States Government contracts.  

We have no material patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises or concessions.   

At May 31, 2010, we employed approximately 335 individuals. None of these employees is a member of a labor union. 
We believe that our employee relations are satisfactory.  

Electro Rent Corporation was incorporated in California in 1965 and became a publicly held corporation in 1980.  

Obtaining Additional Information. Our Internet address is www.electrorent.com. Copies of our annual report on Form 
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge on our website via 
links to the Securities and Exchange Commission’s website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file 
those materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We provide paper copies of these reports to shareholders 
upon written request to Shareholder Relations, Electro Rent Corporation, 6060 Sepulveda Boulevard, Van Nuys, 
California 91411-2512. 

http://www.electrorent.com
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Item 1A.

 
Risk Factors.   

Please carefully consider the following discussion of various risks and uncertainties. We believe these risk factors are the 
most relevant to our business and could cause our results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements made 
by us. The following risk factors are not the only risk factors that we face. Additional risks that we do not consider material, 
or of which we are not currently aware, may also have an adverse impact on us. Our business, financial condition and 
results of operations could be seriously harmed if any of these risks or uncertainties actually occurs or materializes. In that 
event, the market price for our common stock could decline, and our shareholders may lose all or part of their investment.  

COMMON STOCK PRICE FLUCTUATIONS  

Our Common Stock price has fluctuated significantly and may continue to do so in the future.  

General Factors. We believe some of the reasons for past fluctuations in the price of our stock have included:  

• announcements of developments related to our business;   

• announcements concerning new products or enhancements in the equipment that we rent, or developments in our 
relationships with our customers;  

• variations in our revenues, gross margins, earnings or other financial results from investors’ expectations; and  

• fluctuations in results of our operations and general conditions in the economy, our market, and the markets served 
by our customers.  

In addition, prices in the stock market have been volatile in recent years. In many cases, the fluctuations have been 
unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. As a result, the price of our Common Stock could 
fluctuate in the future without regard to our operating performance.  

Future Sales of our Common Stock. Sales of our Common Stock by our officers, directors and employees could 
adversely and unpredictably affect the price of our shares. Additionally, the price could be affected even by the potential 
for sales by these persons. In addition to the 23,961,655 shares outstanding as of August 6, 2010, as of such date, we are 
authorized to issue up to 315,536 shares of Common Stock upon exercise of stock options and conversion of our stock 
units previously granted under our equity incentive plans.  

We cannot predict the effect that any future sales of our Common Stock, or the potential for those sales, will have on our 
share price.  

FLUCTUATIONS IN OPERATING RESULTS  

Historically, our operating results have fluctuated, and we expect that fluctuations could continue in the future. The 
fluctuations in our past results have resulted from many factors, some of which are beyond our control. In the future, these 
or other factors could have a material adverse impact on our operating results and cause our stock price to decrease.  

Timing of Equipment Purchases and Sales and Equipment Pool Management. The profitability of our business 
depends in part on controlling the timing, pricing and mix of purchases and sales of equipment and on managing our 
equipment pool. We seek to acquire new and used equipment at attractive prices, from which we feel we can make a 
profit as a result of a combination of renting and/or selling that equipment. We base expenditures for equipment 
purchases, sales and marketing and other items on our expectations of future customer demand. In order to maximize 
overall profit from the rental, leasing, and sales of equipment, we manage our equipment pool on an on-going basis by 
analyzing our product strategy for each specific equipment class in light of that equipment’s historical and projected 
lifecycle. In doing so, we compare our estimate of potential profit from rental with the potential profit from the product’s 
immediate sale and replacement with new or other equipment.  
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Our overall equipment management is complex and our equipment strategy can change during the equipment’s lifetime 
based upon numerous factors, including the U.S. and global economy, interest rates and new product launches. Our 
strategic equipment decisions are based on the following fundamentals:  

• our acquisition cost;   

• our estimates of current and future market demand for rentals;   

• our estimates of current and future supply of equipment;   

• the book value of the equipment after depreciation and other impairment;  

• our estimates of the effect of interest rates on rental and leasing fees as well as capital financing; and  

• our estimates of the potential current and future sale prices of equipment.  

However, historical trends are not necessarily indicative of future trends. If our assumptions prove to be wrong, not only 
may our revenues fall short of our expectations, but we may not be able to adjust our inventory quickly enough to 
compensate for lower demand for one or more products in our inventory. In addition, as demand for a product falls, we 
may have difficulty in selling any of our excess equipment at a favorable price or at all. Both of these factors can 
compound the impact of any revenue shortfall and further affect our operating results and the price of our stock.  

Risks Associated with Changing Economic Conditions. The U.S. economy and international markets that we serve 
are currently in a recession, which has resulted in more stringent credit requirements and reduced access to capital, and 
which may deepen and continue for the foreseeable future. Our customers historically have reduced their expenditures for 
electronic equipment during economic downturns. Accordingly, when the domestic and/or international economy 
weakens, demand for our services declines. A large part of our equipment pool is rented or leased to customers in the 
aerospace, defense, electronics and telecommunications industries. Continued slowdowns in the U.S. and global 
economy, or one or more of these specific industries, resulting in lower demand and price pressure, could have a material 
adverse effect on our operating results and stock price. In fact, in fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003, the U.S. economy 
experienced a downturn and the core industries we serve were negatively impacted. As a result, we experienced a 
decline in revenues, and we recorded a loss on impairment of goodwill and intangibles. Beginning in fiscal 2009, the 
recession in the U.S. and global economy resulted in reduced revenues and a decline in our operating results.  

Seasonal and Quarterly Fluctuations. Regardless of the overall economic outlook domestically and globally, December, 
January and February typically reflect lower rental activity. In addition, because February is a short month, revenue billing 
in that month is reduced. We cannot predict whether these seasonal factors or their effects will change in the future. The 
seasonal spending patterns of our customers are affected by factors such as:  

• weather, holiday and vacation considerations; and   

• budgetary considerations.   

Additionally, our operating results are subject to quarterly fluctuations resulting from a variety of factors, including 
remarketing activities, product announcements by manufacturers, economic conditions and variations in the financial mix 
of new rentals and leases. The financial mix of new rentals and leases is a result of a combination of factors such as:  

• changes in customer demands and/or requirements;   

• new product announcements;   

• price changes;   

• changes in delivery dates;   
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• changes in maintenance policies and the pricing policies of equipment manufacturers; and  

• price competition from other rental, leasing and finance companies.   

Other Factors. Other factors that may affect our operating results include:   

• competitive forces within our current and anticipated future markets;   

• changes in interest rates;   

• our ability to attract customers and meet their expectations;   

• currency fluctuations and other risks of international operations;   

• general economic conditions; and   

• differences in the timing of our spending on acquiring equipment, renting or leasing that equipment and receiving 
revenues from our customers.  

All or any of these and similar factors could result in our operating results differing substantially from the expectations of 
public market analysts and investors, which would likely have a material adverse impact on our stock price.  

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH TECHNOLOGY CHANGES  

If we do not adequately anticipate or respond to changes in technology, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
operating results and stock price.  

Technological Advancements. We must anticipate and keep pace with the introduction of new hardware, software and 
networking technologies and acquire equipment that will be marketable to our current and prospective customers. The 
equipment we rent can be the subject of rapid technological developments, evolving customer demands and frequent new 
product announcements and enhancements. If we fail to adequately anticipate or adapt to new technological 
developments or to recognize changing market conditions, our operating results and stock price could be materially and 
adversely affected. 
Expenses Resulting from Technological Advancements. As a result of technology developments, we may have to 
make substantial and unanticipated expenditures to acquire new equipment or invest in further staff education on 
operating and servicing the equipment we deliver to our customers. Further, we may not adequately anticipate or respond 
successfully to technological changes for many reasons, including misjudging the impact of technological changes as well 
as financial, technological or other constraints. If we do not adequately anticipate or respond to changes in technological 
advancements or customer preferences, it would likely have a material adverse impact on our operating results and stock 
price.  

Introduction of New Products and Services. The markets in which we operate are characterized by rapidly changing 
technology, evolving industry standards and declining prices of certain products. Our operating results will depend to a 
significant extent on our ability to continue to introduce new services and to control and/or reduce costs on existing 
services. Whether we succeed in our new offerings depends on several factors such as:  

• proper identification of customer needs;   

• our costs;   

• timely completion and introduction of products and services as compared to our competitors;  

• our ability to differentiate our equipment and services from our competitors; and  

• market acceptance of our business.  
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH CUSTOMER SOLVENCY  

If we do not collect on contracts with customers, it could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and stock 
price.  

One of the reasons some of our customers find it more attractive to rent or lease electronic equipment than owning that 
equipment is the need to deploy their capital elsewhere. This can be particularly true in industries with high growth rates 
such as the telecommunications industry. However, some of our customers have liquidity issues, which have been 
compounded by the current economic recession, and ultimately cannot fulfill the terms of their agreements with us. If we 
are not able to manage credit risk issues, or if a large number of customers should have financial difficulties at the same 
time, our credit losses would increase above historical levels. If this should occur, our results of operations and stock price 
may be materially and adversely affected.  

COMPETITION  

If we do not effectively compete in our market, our operating results and stock price will be materially and adversely 
affected.  

Our industry is characterized by intense competition from several large competitors, some of which have access to 
greater financial and other resources than we do. Although no single competitor holds a dominant market share, we face 
competition from both established entities and new entries in the market. Our primary competitors in the North American 
T&M rental area include McGrath Rent Corp., Continental Resources, Test Equity and Microlease plc. We compete for 
rental business with Microlease plc and Livingston Group Ltd. in Europe and Orix Corporation in Asia. These entities also 
compete with us in leasing T&M equipment, as do banks, vendors and other financing sources. In addition, in selling our 
equipment, we may also compete with sales of new equipment by our suppliers, including Agilent and Tektronix, and their 
other distributors.  

The market for the lease and rental of computers and servers is highly fragmented, although our principal competitors 
include SmartSource Computer & Audio Visual Rentals, Rent-A-Computer, ICC Rents, Source One Rentals, PC Rentals, 
Rentex and CRE Rentals. The computer rental market has been characterized by intense competition that has lead to 
industry consolidation. We acquired two competitors during the last fifteen years and SmartSource, our largest competitor, 
has expanded primarily due to its eighteen acquisitions.  

Our competitors engage in aggressive pricing for both rentals and sales, as well as offering customers extended 
warranties in excess of the underlying manufacturers’ warranties and other services. In order to maintain or increase our 
market share, we may choose to lower our prices, resulting in lower revenues and decreased profitability.  

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS  

If we do not adequately anticipate and respond to the risks inherent in international operations, it could have a material 
adverse effect on our operating results and stock price.  

Currency Risks. We generate a meaningful portion of our revenues from international operations. Our contracts to supply 
equipment outside of the U.S. are generally priced in local currency. However, our consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in U.S. dollars. Consequently, changes in exchange rates can unpredictably and adversely affect our 
consolidated operating results, and could result in exchange losses. Although we use foreign currency forward contracts 
to mitigate the risks associated with fluctuations in exchange rates, we may not be able to eliminate or reduce the effects 
of currency fluctuations. Thus, exchange rate fluctuations could have a material adverse impact on our operating results 
and stock price.  

Other Risks Associated with International Operations. Additionally, our financial results may be adversely affected by 
other international risks, such as:  

• international political and economic conditions;   
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• changes in government regulation in various countries;   

• trade barriers;   

• difficulty in staffing our foreign sales and service centers, and in training and retaining foreign employees;  

• issues relating to the repatriation of any profits;   

• adverse tax consequences; and   

• costs associated with expansion into new territories.   

We expect to continue our international operations and that the revenues we derive from these activities will continue to 
be a meaningful portion of our total revenues. If we do not anticipate and respond to the risks associated with international 
operations, it could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and stock price.  

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR MANUFACTURERS AND SUPPLIERS  

If we are not able to obtain equipment at favorable rates, it could have a material adverse effect on our operating results 
and stock price.  

About 88% of our equipment portfolio at acquisition cost consists of general purpose T&M instruments purchased from 
leading manufacturers such as Agilent and Tektronix. The remainder of our equipment pool consists of personal 
computers and workstations, which include personal computers from Compaq, Dell, IBM, Apple, and Toshiba and 
workstations primarily from Sun Microsystems and Hewlett Packard. We depend on these manufacturers and suppliers to 
contract for our equipment. If, in the future, we are not able to purchase necessary equipment from one or more of these 
suppliers on favorable terms, we may not be able to meet our customers’ demands in a timely manner or for a price that 
generates a profit. If this should occur, we can make no assurance that we will be able to secure necessary equipment 
from an alternative source on acceptable terms and our business and stock price may be materially and adversely 
affected.  

DEPENDENCE ON KEY PERSONNEL  

If we are unable to recruit and retain qualified personnel, it could have a material adverse effect on our operating results 
and stock price.  

Our success depends in large part on the continued services of our executive officers, our senior managers and other key 
personnel, including, among others, our Chief Executive Officer, Daniel Greenberg, our President, Steven Markheim, and 
our Chief Financial Officer, Craig Jones. The loss of these people, especially without advance notice, could materially and 
adversely impact our results of operations. It is also very important that we attract and retain highly skilled personnel to 
accommodate growth and to replace personnel who leave. Competition for qualified personnel can be intense, especially 
in technology industries, and there are a limited number of people with the requisite knowledge and experience to market, 
sell and service our equipment. Under these conditions, we could be unable to recruit, train, and retain employees. If we 
cannot attract and retain qualified personnel, it could have a material adverse impact on our operating results and stock 
price.  

CONTROL BY MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS  

Senior management has significant influence over our policies and affairs and may be in a position to determine the 
outcome of corporate actions.  

As of August 6, 2010, our executive officers and directors collectively own approximately 21.7% of our Common Stock.  

As of that date, (i) Mr. Daniel Greenberg, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, beneficially owns approximately 
20.1% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock, and (ii) one other shareholder controls 16.2% of our outstanding 
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shares of Common Stock. Consequently, these shareholders may have significant influence over our policies and affairs 
and may be in a position to determine the outcome of corporate actions requiring shareholder approval. These may 
include, for example, the election of directors, the adoption of amendments to our corporate documents and the approval 
of mergers and sales of our assets.  

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH POSSIBLE ACQUISITIONS AND NEW BUSINESS VENTURES  

If we cannot successfully implement any recent or future acquisitions or new business ventures, it could have a material 
adverse effect on our operating results and stock price.  

On occasion, we evaluate business opportunities that appear to fit within our overall business strategy. In fiscal 2006, we 
acquired Rush Computer Rentals, Inc., a private company based in Wallingford, Connecticut that rents and sells a wide 
range of DP equipment. In fiscal 2010, we acquired certain assets and select post-closing liabilities of Telogy, a private 
company headquartered in Union City, California, and a leading provider of electronic T&M equipment. In fiscal 2010, we 
entered into an agreement with Agilent to sell new T&M equipment through our new ATP sales agreement in the U.S. and 
Canada, resulting in the hiring of additional sales and support staff. We could decide to pursue one or more other 
opportunities by acquisition or internal development. Acquisitions and new business ventures, both domestic and foreign, 
involve many risks, including:  

• the difficulty of integrating acquired operations and personnel with our existing operations;  

• the difficulty of developing and marketing new products and services;   

• the diversion of our management’s attention as a result of evaluating, negotiating and integrating acquisitions or 
new business ventures;  

• our exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies; and   

• the loss of key employees of an acquired operation.   

In addition, an acquisition or new business venture could adversely impact cash flows and/or operating results, and dilute 
shareholder interests, for many reasons, including:  

• charges to our income to reflect the impairment of acquired intangible assets, including goodwill;  

• interest costs and debt service requirements for any debt incurred in connection with an acquisition or new business 
venture; and  

• any issuance of securities in connection with an acquisition or new business venture that dilutes or lessens the 
rights of our current shareholders.  

Additionally, we have implemented various new business ventures in the past, and not all of such ventures have been 
successful. The risks associated with acquisitions and new business ventures could have a material adverse impact on 
our operating results and stock price.  

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FLUCTUATING INTEREST RATES  

Interest rate fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and stock price.  

Our leasing yields generally directly correlate with market interest rates: When interest rates are higher, our leasing terms 
incorporate a higher financing charge. However, in times of relatively lower interest rates our financing charges also 
decrease, and some of our customers choose to purchase new equipment, rather than leasing equipment at all. Lower 
leasing yields are reflected in lower rental and lease revenues.   
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ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS  

The anti-takeover provisions contained in our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and in California law could materially 
and adversely impact the value of our Common Stock.  

Certain provisions of our Articles of Incorporation, our Bylaws and California law could, together or separately, discourage, 
delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us, even if doing so might benefit our shareholders. This may adversely 
impact the interests of our shareholders with respect to a potential acquisition and may also affect the price investors 
would receive for their shares of Common Stock. Some examples of these provisions in our Articles of Incorporation and 
Bylaws are:  

• the right of our board of directors to issue preferred stock with rights and privileges that are senior to the Common 
Stock, without prior shareholder approval; and  

• certain limitations of the rights of shareholders to call a special meeting of shareholders.  

Item 1B.

 

Unresolved Staff Comments.   

None.   

Item 2.

 

Properties.   

We own a building that houses our corporate headquarters and Los Angeles sales office located at 6060 Sepulveda 
Boulevard, Van Nuys, California. The building contains approximately 84,500 square feet of office space. Approximately 
40,500 square feet are currently leased to others. These tenant arrangements provide for all of the leased property to be 
available for our future needs.  

We own a facility in Wood Dale, Illinois, containing approximately 30,750 square feet. This facility houses our Illinois 
warehouse and service center.  

We own a building at 15385 Oxnard Street, Van Nuys, California, containing approximately 68,200 square feet. We use all 
of this space, except for 5,500 square feet that are currently being leased to others. This building houses our California 
warehouse and equipment calibration center.  

As of May 31, 2010 we had sales offices in the metropolitan areas of Atlanta and Los Angeles. We also have service 
centers in Chicago, Dallas, Los Angeles, New York/Newark, San Francisco, Charlotte, Orlando, Toronto and 
Washington/Baltimore. We have foreign sales offices and warehouses in both Mechelen, Belgium and Tianjin, China.  

Our facilities aggregate approximately 269,000 square feet as of May 31, 2010. Except for the corporate headquarters, 
the Wood Dale, Illinois facilities and the Oxnard Street building, each of which we own, all of our facilities are rented 
pursuant to leases for up to seven years for aggregate annual rentals of approximately $1.1 million in fiscal 2010. We do 
not consider any rented facility essential to our operations. We consider our facilities to be in good condition, well 
maintained and adequate for our needs.  

Item 3.

 

Legal Proceedings.   

Other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to our business, we are not involved in any legal proceedings that we 
believe could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of 
operations.  

Item 4.

 

Reserved.   

None.   
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PART II

  
Item 5.

 
Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 

Securities.  

Market for Common Stock; Holders.   

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ stock market under the symbol ELRC. There were approximately 335 
shareholders of record at August 6, 2010. During fiscal 2010, we repurchased 44,114 shares of our common stock for an 
aggregate price of $395,000, at an average price of $8.94 per share. The following table sets forth, for the period shown, 
the high and low closing sale prices as reported by NASDAQ.     

Fiscal Year 2010 

   

Fiscal Year 2009 

   

High  Low  High  Low 
First Quarter  $ 10.61  $ 8.76  $ 14.77  $ 11.05 
Second Quarter  11.95  9.90  16.00  9.35 
Third Quarter  12.26  10.22  12.44  7.45 
Fourth Quarter  15.50  11.62  10.64  6.81  

Sales of Unregistered Securities.   

We did not make any unregistered sales of our securities during the quarter ended May 31, 2010.  

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans.   

The following table provides information as of May 31, 2010 with respect to shares of our Common Stock that may be 
issued under our existing stock incentive plans, all of which were approved by our shareholders:  

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION  

Number of shares of 
common stock to be 
issued upon exercise 

of outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

(a) 

Weighted-average exercise 
price of outstanding options, 

warrants and rights 
(b) 

Number of shares of 
common stock remaining 

available for future 
issuance under equity 
compensation plans 

(excluding shares 
reflected in column (a)) 

(c) 
56,659 $15.46 771,990 

 

Stock Repurchases.   

We have from time to time repurchased shares of our common stock under an authorization from our Board of Directors. 
Shares repurchased by us are retired and returned to the status of authorized but unissued stock.  

We did not repurchase any shares in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. We may choose to make additional open market or 
other purchases of our common stock in the future, but we have no commitment to do so.  

Dividends.   

Since July 2007, we have been paying quarterly dividends in each January, April, July and October. Our quarterly 
dividend was initially set at $0.10 per common share but was raised to $0.15 per common share effective with our April 
2008 dividend. For fiscal 2010 and 2009, we paid aggregate dividends of $14.4 million and $15.0 million, respectively. We 
expect to continue paying a quarterly dividend in future quarters, although the amount and timing of dividends, if any, will 
be made by our Board of Directors in each quarter, subject to compliance with applicable law.   



  

14 

Performance Graph.   

This graph compares our total shareholder return with (1) the NASDAQ (US) Index, (2) the Russell 2000 Index, and (3) 
the composite prices of the companies listed by Value Line, Inc. in its Industrial Services Industry Group. Our Common 
Stock is listed in both the Russell 2000 Index and the Industrial Services Industry Group. The comparison is over a five 
year period, beginning May 31, 2005 and ending May 31, 2010. The total shareholder return assumes $100 invested at 
the beginning of the period in our Common Stock and in each index. It also assumes reinvestment of all dividends.  

Cumulative Five Year Total Return 
Value of $100 Invested on May 31, 2005 

Fiscal Years Ended May 31 

        

2005

  

2006

  

2007

  

2008

  

2009

  

2010

 

Electro Rent Corporation  100

  

140

  

123

  

124

  

89  133

 

NASDAQ Composite  100

  

106

  

129

  

124

  

87  111

 

Russell 2000  100

  

118

  

141

  

126

  

86  115

 

Value Line Industrial Services

  

100

  

121

  

149

  

135

  

93

  

113
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Item 6.

 
Selected Financial Data.  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial 
statements and the accompanying notes included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below and 
other financial and statistical information included in this Form 10-K.     

Fiscal year ended May 31, 

    
2010 (1) 

  
2009 

  
2008 

  
2007 

  
2006 

 
Operations data:           
Revenues $ 145,867 $ 130,481 $ 144,536 $ 126,859 $ 116,212 
Costs of revenues and depreciation  81,666  68,630  69,901  55,848  49,350 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  46,447  44,456  43,940  42,000  35,161 
Bargain purchase gain (2)  (679)

  

—  —  —  — 
Interest and other, net  (1,599)

  

(1,507)

  

(3,292)

  

(5,440)

  

(2,705)

 

Income before income taxes  20,032  18,902  33,987  34,451  34,406 
Income tax provision  8,435  7,150  12,883  13,402  12,222 
Net income $ 11,597 $ 11,752 $ 21,104 $ 21,049 $ 22,184 
Earnings per share:           

Basic $ 0.48

 

$ 0.47

 

$ 0.81

 

$ 0.82

 

$ 0.87

 

Diluted $ 0.48

 

$ 0.47

 

$ 0.81

 

$ 0.81

 

$ 0.86

 

Shares used in per share calculation:           
Basic  23,932  24,899  25,910  25,716  25,359 
Diluted  24,004  24,980  26,079  26,053  25,762 

Balance sheet data (at end of year):           
Total assets $ 276,068 $ 271,334 $ 293,082 $ 284,819 $ 260,936 
Shareholders’ equity $ 229,962 $ 228,753 $ 256,108 $ 243,479 $ 221,841 
Shareholders’ equity per common share $ 9.60

 

$ 9.55

 

$ 9.87

 

$ 9.43

 

$ 8.68

 

Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.45

 

$ 0.75

 

$ 0.35

 

$ 0.10

 

$ — 
____________   

(1) Includes the operating results and balance sheet information of the assets acquired from Telogy from March 31, 
2010, the closing date of the acquisition (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 
10-K).  

(2) The estimated fair value of the net assets acquired from Telogy exceeded the acquisition cost, resulting in a bargain 
purchase gain with respect to this transaction.  

Item 7.

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  
(in thousands, except per share amounts)  

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the 
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and the other financial and statistical information appearing 
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.  

Overview  

We are one of the largest global organizations devoted to the rental, lease and sale of new and used electronic T&M 
equipment. We purchase that equipment from leading manufacturers such as Agilent and Tektronix primarily for use by 
our customers in the aerospace, defense, telecommunications, electronics, industrial and semiconductor industries. 
Although it represents only approximately 13% of our revenues in fiscal 2010, we believe our DP division is one of the 
largest rental companies in the United States for personal computers and servers from manufacturers including Dell, 
HP/Compaq, IBM and Toshiba. We have also recently expanded our efforts in the rental, lease and sale of industrial 
equipment such as electrical test equipment and inspection equipment. Our ATP agreement with Agilent, effective 
December 1, 2009 gives us the exclusive right to sell Agilent’s more complex T&M equipment to small to medium size 
customers (who previously purchased directly from Agilent) in the United States and Canada. (In connection with this 
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agreement, we terminated our prior distribution agreement with Agilent.) We have added approximately 40 people to our 
sales and support staff to serve these customers, and we expect this agreement to be material to our operations. We 
began selling T&M equipment under the ATP sales agreement during our third fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2010.  

On March 31, 2010, we completed the acquisition of certain assets (including accounts receivable and rental equipment 
but excluding certain designated assets) and select post-closing liabilities of Telogy, for $24.7 million in cash, subject to 
post-closing adjustments. Telogy, headquartered in Union City, California, is a leading provider of electronic T&M 
equipment in North America. We accounted for the acquisition under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, 
Business Combinations.  

Our financial results for fiscal 2010 were impacted by competitive pressure on rental rates due in large part to the 
recession in the U.S. and our major international markets, although our utilization rates improved due to an increase in 
demand and equipment on rent. The recession in the U.S. and global economy, resulting in more stringent credit 
requirements and reduced access to capital, is adversely affecting our customers and competitors. Consequently, while 
we continue to work at initiatives to expand revenue, including growth through acquisitions, we must also focus on 
remaining profitable in the current conditions, as well as being prepared for the possibility that the recession may deepen 
and continue in future periods.  

In fiscal 2010, 83% of our rental and lease revenues were derived from T&M equipment, compared to 79% in fiscal 2009. 
This increase was due to a decline in our DP rental revenues in fiscal 2010, while our T&M rental revenues were 
essentially unchanged from fiscal 2009. Our T&M and DP rental rates have declined, reflecting competitive pressures and 
the recession in the United States and the international markets that we serve. This decline was offset, in part, by an 
increase in T&M rental activity in the second half of fiscal 2010 and by the T&M revenues acquired from Telogy in our 
fourth fiscal quarter.  

In fiscal 2010, rental revenues were 86% of our rental and lease revenue. Although that percentage increased slightly 
from the prior fiscal year due to an increase in T&M rental activity and rental revenues acquired from Telogy, both our 
rental and lease revenues declined.  

The profitability of our business depends in part on controlling the timing, pricing and mix of purchases and sales of 
equipment. To maximize our overall profit from the rental, leasing, and sales of equipment, we manage our equipment 
pool on an on-going basis by controlling the timing, pricing and mix of our purchases and sales. We acquire new and used 
equipment to meet current technological standards and current and anticipated customer demand, and we sell our used 
equipment where we believe that is the most lucrative option. We employ a complex equipment management strategy and 
our proprietary PERFECT™ software to adjust our inventory and pricing on a dynamic basis in order to maximize 
equipment availability, utilization and profitability. We manage each specific equipment class based on a separate 
assessment of that equipment’s historical and projected life cycle and numerous other factors, including the U.S. and 
global economy, interest rates and new product launches. If we do not accurately predict market trends, or if demand for 
the equipment we supply declines, we can be left with inventory that we are unable to rent or sell for a profit. We assess 
the carrying value of the equipment pool on a quarterly basis or more frequently when factors indicating impairment are 
present.  

Profitability and key business trends  

Comparing fiscal 2010 to fiscal 2009, our revenues increased by 11.8% to $145.9 million, our operating profit increased 
6.0% to $18.4 million (including $0.7 million from the bargain purchase gain in connection with our acquisition of Telogy) 
and our net income decreased by 1.3% to $11.6 million. Our rental and lease revenues decreased in our DP segment, 
while they remained essentially unchanged from fiscal 2009 for our T&M segment. Rental rates for both our T&M and DP 
businesses have declined, reflecting the global recession and competitive pressures. This decline was partially offset by 
an increase in equipment on rent, particularly in our T&M segment, and $1.7 million in additional T&M revenues from 
Telogy. The decline in rental and lease revenues was offset by an increase in T&M sales activity, due to an increase in 
used equipment sales, finance leases and new equipment sales in connection with our new ATP sales agreement.    
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Some of our key profitability measurements are presented below:     

Fiscal 2010  Fiscal 2009  Fiscal 2008 
Net income per diluted common share (EPS)  $ 0.48  $ 0.47  $ 0.81 
Net income as a percentage of average assets  4.2%

  
4.2%

  
7.3%

 
Net income as a percentage of average equity  5.2%

  
4.9%

  
8.6%

  
The increase in our operating profit is due primarily to increased sales of new and used equipment and finance lease 
activity in fiscal 2010. The increase was partly offset by moderate growth in our selling, general and administrative 
expenses of $2.0 million, or 4.5%. Our investment in the infrastructure necessary to support our new ATP sales 
agreement, and the Telogy acquisition related costs, were partially offset by several cost cutting measures that we 
introduced at the beginning of fiscal 2010 to control or reduce our selling, general and administrative expenses in 
response to the recession in the U.S. and our major international markets.  

The amount of our equipment on rent, based on acquisition cost, increased 35.4% to $199.5 million at May 31, 2010 from 
$147.3 million at May 31, 2009. Acquisition cost of equipment on lease increased 2.4% to $28.6 million at May 31, 2010 
from $27.9 million at May 31, 2009. Average rental rates and lease rates declined by 2.8% and 2.4%, respectively, from 
May 31, 2009 to May 31, 2010. Utilization for our T&M equipment pool, based on acquisition cost of equipment on rent 
and lease compared to the total equipment pool, was 71.2% at May 31, 2010, compared to 55.8% at May 31, 2009 due to 
an increase in both rental utilization and demand for leases. Over the same period, utilization of our DP equipment pool 
increased to 44.5% from 42.5% due to an increase in rental utilization, partially offset by a decline in equipment on lease.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Fiscal 2010 Compared with Fiscal 2009  

Total Revenues: Total revenues for fiscal 2010 and 2009 were $145.9 million and $130.5 million, respectively. The 11.8% 
increase in total revenues was due to a 61.0% increase in sales of equipment and other revenues, partially offset by a 
decrease in rental and lease revenues of 4.3%.  

Rental and lease revenues in fiscal 2010 were $94.2 million, compared to $98.4 million in fiscal 2009. The decrease 
reflected a decline in our DP lease revenues, primarily due to lower demand for leases, and a decrease in DP rental 
revenues, while our T&M rental and lease revenues remained essentially unchanged from fiscal 2009. Rental rates have 
decreased for both our DP & T&M businesses, reflecting competitive pressures and the global recession. This decrease 
was partially offset by an increase in our T&M rental and lease activity, due in part to the Telogy acquisition.  

Sales of equipment and other revenues increased to $51.7 million for fiscal 2010 from $32.1 million in fiscal 2009. The 
increase was primarily due to an increase in used equipment sales in our T&M business, increased finance lease activity, 
resulting from a large sale to a customer and continued development of our vendor leasing program that provides 
customers with flexible financing alternatives, and sales of T&M equipment through our new ATP sales agreement. Our 
unfilled orders for T&M equipment relating to our ATP sales agreement was $9.7 million at May 31, 2010. Distribution 
sales in fiscal 2010 declined as a result of the termination of our Agilent distribution agreement on January 31, 2010.  

Depreciation of Rental and Lease Equipment: Depreciation of rental and lease equipment decreased in fiscal 2010 to 
$42.6 million, or 45.2% of rental and lease revenues, from $46.1 million, or 46.8% of rental and lease revenues, in fiscal 
2009. The decreased depreciation expense in fiscal 2010 was due to the sale of excess T&M equipment, while the 
decreased depreciation ratio, as a percentage of rental and lease revenues, reflected the lower equipment level during 
most of the year and higher utilization.  

Costs of Revenues Other Than Depreciation: Costs of revenues other than depreciation increased 73.0% to $39.1 million 
in fiscal 2010 from $22.6 million in fiscal 2009. Costs of revenues other than depreciation primarily includes the cost of 
equipment sales, which increased as a percentage of equipment sales to 73.2% in fiscal 2010 from 67.3% in fiscal 2009. 
This increase reflected a decline in our used equipment sales margin, resulting from competitive pressures and the global 
recession, and an increase in our lower margin finance leases. In addition, fiscal 2010 includes sales of T&M equipment 
through our new ATP sales agreement, which generally carry a lower margin. Our sales margin is expected to continue to 
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decline as a result of anticipated growth in our finance leases and sales in connection with our new ATP sales agreement. 
Our sales margin is also impacted by competition, the global recession, and customer requirements and funding.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 4.5% to $46.4 
million in fiscal 2010 compared to $44.5 million in fiscal 2009. Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased 
primarily due to additional sales and support staff in connection with our new ATP sales agreement, and $0.2 million in 
transition costs related to the Telogy acquisition, partially offset by several cost cutting measures that we introduced at the 
beginning of fiscal 2010 to control or reduce our selling, general and administrative expenses in response to the recession 
in the U.S. and our major international markets. As a percentage of total revenues, selling, general and administrative 
expenses decreased to 31.8% in fiscal 2010 from 34.1% in fiscal 2009, due to an increase in total revenues.  

Operating Profit: As a result of significant growth in our sales of equipment and other revenues and a gain on bargain 
purchase of $0.7 million as a result of the Telogy acquisition, operating profit increased 6.0% to $18.4 million, or 12.6% of 
total revenues, in fiscal 2010, compared to an operating profit of $17.4 million, or 13.3% of total revenues, in fiscal 2009.  

Interest Income, Net: Interest income, net, was $1.6 million in fiscal 2010, compared to $1.5 million in fiscal 2009. Interest 
income, net, includes $0.7 million of unrealized losses on our put option to UBS AG (“UBS”) which were offset by a related 
$0.7 million of unrealized gains on our investments, trading.  

Income Tax Provision: Our effective tax rate was 42.1% for fiscal 2010, compared to 37.8% for fiscal 2009. The increase 
was due primarily to changes in tax estimates, a valuation allowance on tax benefits for certain foreign subsidiary losses 
and a reduction of the benefit from tax-advantaged investments.  

Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008  

Total Revenues: Total revenues for fiscal 2009 and 2008 were $130.5 million and $144.5 million, respectively. The 9.7% 
decrease in total revenues was due to a 9.5% decrease in rental and lease revenues and a 10.3% decrease in sales of 
equipment and other revenues.  

Rental and lease revenues in fiscal 2009 were $98.4 million, compared to $108.8 million in fiscal 2008. This reflected a 
decline in our T&M and DP lease revenues, primarily due to lower demand, and a decrease in T&M and DP rental 
revenues, reflecting decreased rental activity and rental rates due to competitive pressures and the global recession.  

Sales of equipment and other revenues decreased to $32.1 million in fiscal 2009 from $35.8 million in fiscal 2008. Our 
used equipment sales decline reflected lower customer demand partly offset by an increase in distribution sales and 
increased finance lease activity. This increase was due to the continued development, both in terms of personnel and 
marketing, of our distribution channel and our vendor leasing program that provides customers with flexible financing 
alternatives.  

Depreciation of Rental and Lease Equipment: Depreciation of rental and lease equipment increased in fiscal 2009 to 
$46.1 million, or 46.8% of rental and lease revenues, from $45.0 million, or 41.4% of rental and lease revenues, in fiscal 
2008. The increased depreciation expense in fiscal 2009 was due to a higher average rental and lease equipment pool, 
while the increased depreciation ratio, as a percentage of rental and lease revenues, was due primarily to a decline in our 
rental and lease revenues, reflecting lower rental rates and lower demand for leases, as well as lower utilization rates.  

Costs of Revenues Other Than Depreciation: Costs of revenues other than depreciation decreased 9.4% to $22.6 million 
in fiscal 2009 from $24.9 million in fiscal 2008. Costs of revenues other than depreciation primarily includes the cost of 
equipment sales, which increased as a percentage of equipment sales to 67.3% in fiscal 2009 from 65.2% in fiscal 2008. 
This increase reflected a decline in our higher-margin used equipment sales due to lower customer demand, reflecting 
competitive pressures and the global recession, and increased finance leases and distribution sales, which carry a lower 
margin. Our cost of revenues other than depreciation decreased primarily due to a decline in our used equipment sales.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 1.2% to $44.5 
million in fiscal 2009, compared to $43.9 million in fiscal 2008. Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased 
due to a foreign currency loss of $0.6 million for fiscal 2009, compared to a foreign currency gain of $0.4 million for fiscal 
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2008, as a result of a strengthening of the U.S. dollar against key currencies. Excluding foreign currency effects, our 
selling, general and administrative expenses decreased due to a decline in personnel and benefit related costs. As a 
percentage of total revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses increased to 34.1% in fiscal 2009 from 30.4% 
in fiscal 2008, due primarily to a decline in revenue.  

Operating Profit: As a result of the decrease in revenues and increase in selling, general and administrative expenses, 
operating profit decreased 43.3% to $17.4 million, or 13.3% of total revenues, in fiscal 2009, compared to an operating 
profit of $30.7 million, or 21.2% of total revenues, in fiscal 2008.  

Interest Income, Net: Interest income, net, was $1.5 million in fiscal 2009, compared to $3.3 million in fiscal 2008. The 
decrease reflected decreases in prevailing interest rates and a lower cash balance. Interest income, net, for fiscal 2009 
included $1.6 million of unrealized gains on our put option and $1.6 million of unrealized losses on our investments, 
trading, including $999 transferred from accumulated other comprehensive loss as of May 31, 2008. There were no such 
amounts for fiscal 2008.  

Income Tax Provision: Our effective tax rate decreased slightly to 37.8% for fiscal 2009, compared to 37.9% for fiscal 
2008. Although fiscal 2009 included a release of reserves as a result of changes in estimated tax exposures, this was 
partially offset by a valuation allowance relating to certain deferred tax assets of our foreign operations.  

Liquidity and capital resources  

Capital Expenditures. During the last three fiscal years, our primary capital requirements have been purchases of rental 
and lease equipment. We generally purchase equipment throughout each year to replace equipment that has been sold 
and to maintain adequate levels of rental equipment to meet existing and expected customer demands. To meet T&M 
rental demand, support areas of potential growth for both T&M and DP equipment and to keep our equipment pool 
technologically up-to-date, we made payments for the purchase of $79.8 million of rental and lease equipment during 
fiscal 2010, $52.0 million in fiscal 2009, and $81.0 million in fiscal 2008. In response to increasing customer demand 
beginning in the second half of fiscal 2010, purchases of equipment were 53.6% higher than fiscal 2009. Capital 
expenditures for fiscal 2010 include $22.9 million of rental and lease equipment acquired from Telogy.  

Share Repurchases and Dividends. We periodically repurchase shares of our common stock under an authorization 
from our board of directors. Shares we repurchase are retired and returned to the status of authorized but unissued stock. 
During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we repurchased 44, 2,138, and 12 shares of our common stock, respectively, for $0.4 
million, $22.8 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, at an average price per share of $8.94, $10.67, and $12.96, 
respectively. We may make repurchases of our common stock in the future through open market transactions or 
otherwise, but we have no commitments to do so.  

For fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we paid aggregate dividends of $14.4 million, $15.0 million and $11.7 million, 
respectively. We expect to continue paying a quarterly dividend in future quarters, although the amount and timing of 
dividends, if any, will be made at the discretion of our board of directors in each quarter, subject to compliance with 
applicable law.  

Dividend and Repurchase Summary     

Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 

   

Three Year    
(in thousands, except per share information)  Totals  2010  2009  2008 
Cash dividends paid  $ 41,049 $ 14,360

 

$ 15,030

 

$ 11,659

 

Shares repurchased  2,194  44

  

2,138

  

12

 

Average price per share  $ 10.86 $ 8.94

 

$ 10.67

 

$ 12.96

 

Aggregate purchase price  $ 23,360 $ 395

 

$ 22,813

 

$ 152

 

Total cash returned to shareholders  $ 64,409 $ 14,755

 

$ 37,843

 

$ 11,811

  

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments. Despite the $64.4 million in cash we have returned to our shareholders 
over the past three fiscal years, and the $24.7 million we paid in connection with the Telogy acquisition in fiscal 2010, we 
continue to maintain substantial cash and cash equivalents and investments. We expect that the level of our cash and 
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cash equivalents and investments may decrease as we pay dividends in future quarters, or if we decide to buy back 
additional shares of our common stock, increase equipment purchases in response to demand, finance another 
acquisition, or pursue other opportunities. We invest our cash balance in money market funds, and corporate and 
government bond funds.  

At May 31, 2010, we held $14.3 million, at cost, in auction rate securities (“ARS”), which we classify as investments, 
trading.  

On November 6, 2008, we accepted an offer from UBS providing us with rights related to our ARS (the “Rights”). The 
Rights permitted us to require UBS to purchase our ARS at par value, defined as the price equal to the liquidation 
preference of the ARS plus accrued but unpaid dividends or interest, at any time between June 30, 2010 and July 2, 
2012. During June and July 2010, UBS purchased our remaining ARS of $14.3 million at par value. (See Note 18 to the 
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.)  

During the second quarter of fiscal 2010, we sold our investments available-for-sale for $28.8 million, including a realized 
gain of $0.8 million, included in interest income, net, in our consolidated statements of operations.  

Cash Flows and Credit Facilities. The acquisition cost of our rental and lease equipment portfolio at May 31, 2010 
totaled $351.0 million, an increase of $13.4 million from the prior fiscal year end. During the past three fiscal years, we 
made payments for equipment purchases totaling $189.8 million, excluding the rental and lease equipment purchased 
from Telogy of $22.9 million, and recorded an aggregate increase in the acquisition cost of our equipment portfolio, net of 
the liquidation of used equipment, of $49.1 million. We have three principal sources of liquidity: cash flows provided by our 
operating activities, proceeds from the sale of equipment from our portfolio, and external funds that historically have been 
provided by bank borrowings.  

During fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008 net cash provided by operating activities was $34.2 million, $59.0 million and $54.2 
million, respectively. The decrease in operating cash flow for fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 was due primarily to: a 
$7.5 million increase in accounts receivable for fiscal 2010, primarily due to higher revenues in fiscal 2010; a decrease in 
our deferred tax liability of $2.8 million for fiscal 2010, resulting from an increase in used equipment sales in fiscal 2010; 
an increase in other assets of $4.3 million for fiscal 2010, due to a large finance lease transaction in the second quarter of 
fiscal 2010; an increase in accrued expenses of $2.5 million in fiscal 2010 due to an increase in current taxes payable as 
a result of the change in deferred taxes noted above; a dividend accrual in fiscal 2009 that was paid in fiscal 2010; and an 
increase in deferred revenue of $1.1 million in fiscal 2010, resulting from an increase in revenues in our fourth fiscal 
quarter of 2010, due in part to the Telogy acquisition. The decrease also includes a decline in net income to $11.6 million 
for fiscal 2010 from $11.8 million in fiscal 2009.  

The increase in operating cash flow for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 was due primarily to: a $6.2 million decrease 
in accounts receivable for fiscal 2009, primarily due to a decline in revenues and the timing of collections of accounts 
receivable; an increase in our deferred tax liability of $4.6 million for fiscal 2009, resulting from increased tax depreciation 
expense; an increase in other assets of $1.8 million for fiscal 2009, due to an increase in finance leases; and a decrease 
in accrued expenses of $1.0 million in fiscal 2009, excluding a non-cash dividend accrual of $3.6 million in fiscal 2009. 
The increases were partially offset by a decline in net income to $11.8 million for fiscal 2009 from $21.1 million in fiscal 
2008.  

During fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008 net cash used in investing activities was $9.5 million, $50.8 million and $50.3 million, 
respectively. Fiscal 2010 includes redemptions of investments, available-for-sale of $28.7 million, compared to purchases 
of investments, available-for-sale of $27.9 million and $3.5 million for fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively. Redemptions of 
investments, trading, were $7.3 million, $2.0 million and $3.5 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
Proceeds from sale of rental and lease equipment increased to $36.7 million for fiscal 2010 compared to $27.3 million for 
fiscal 2009 and $31.1 million for fiscal 2008. Payments for equipment purchases were $56.9 million, $52.0 million and 
$81.0 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Fiscal 2010 includes cash paid for the acquisition of Telogy of 
$24.7 million.  

Net cash flows used in financing activities were $14.2 million in fiscal 2010, compared to $36.5 million in fiscal 2009 and 
$10.3 million in fiscal 2008. Proceeds from issuance of common stock were $0.5 million for fiscal 2010, compared to $1.3 
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million and $1.4 million for fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively. Payments for the repurchase of common stock declined to 
$0.4 million in fiscal 2010, compared to $22.8 million in fiscal 2009 and $0.2 million in fiscal 2008. Payments for dividends 
were $14.4 million, $15.0 million and $11.7 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

As the following table illustrates, aggregate cash flows from operating activities and proceeds from the sale of equipment 
have been more than sufficient to fund our operations during the last three fiscal years.    

Three Years Ended    
(in thousands)  May 31, 2010  2010  2009  2008 
Cash flows from operating activities1  $ 147,328 $ 34,173 $ 58,977 $ 54,178 
Proceeds from sale of equipment  95,140  36,661  27,342  31,137 
Total  242,468  70,834  86,319  85,315 
Payments for equipment purchases  (189,822)  (56,891)

  

(51,956)

  

(80,975)

 

Equipment purchased from Telogy  (22,923)  (22,923)

     

Net increase in equipment portfolio at acquisition cost  49,057  13,457  3,915  31,685 

 

1 For the components of cash flows from operating activities see the consolidated statements of cash flows.  

As indicated by the table, cash flows from operating activities and proceeds from sale of equipment provided 114% of the 
funds required for equipment purchased during the past three fiscal years.  

We have a $10.0 million revolving line of credit with an institutional lender, subject to certain restrictions, to meet 
equipment acquisition needs as well as working capital and general corporate requirements. We had no bank borrowings 
outstanding or off balance sheet financing arrangements during the last three fiscal years.  

We believe that cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operating activities, proceeds from the sale of equipment and 
our borrowing capacity will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next twelve months.  

Inflation. Inflation generally has favorably influenced our results of operations by enhancing the sale prices of our used 
equipment. However, lower inflation rates and the continued availability of newer, less expensive equipment with similar 
or better specifications over a period of several years could result in lower relative sale prices for used electronic 
equipment, which could reduce margins and earnings. Prices of new and used electronic test equipment have not 
consistently followed the overall inflation rate, while prices of new and used personal computers and servers have 
consistently declined. Because we are unable to predict the advances in technology and the rate of inflation for the next 
several years, it is not possible to estimate the impact of these factors on our margins and earnings.  

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS  

We lease certain facilities under various operating leases. Most of the lease agreements provide us with the option of 
renewing the lease at the end of the initial lease term, at the fair rental value, for periods of up to five years. In most 
cases, we expect that facility leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases in the normal course of business.  

The table below presents the amount of payments due under our contractual obligations. The table reflects expected 
payments due as of May 31, 2010 and does not reflect changes that could arise after that time.     

Payments due by period 

    

Less than    More than 
Contractual Obligations (in thousands)  Total  1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  5 years 
Facility lease payments, not including property taxes and insurance $ 988

  

$ 577  $ 342  $ 69  $ — 
Total $ 988

  

$ 577  $ 342  $ 69  $ — 

 

The exact timing of reversal or settlement of our ASC 740, Income Taxes, liabilities of $7.1 million could not be reasonably 
estimated at the end of the current fiscal year.    
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES  

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“generally accepted accounting principles”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On a regular 
basis, we review these estimates, including those related to asset lives and depreciation methods, impairment of long-
lived assets (including rental and lease equipment), impairment of goodwill and definite lived intangible assets, 
investments, allowance for doubtful accounts and income taxes. These estimates are based on our historical experience 
and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the 
preparation of our financial statements:  

Asset Lives and Depreciation Methods: Our primary business involves the purchase and subsequent rental and lease of 
long-lived electronic equipment. We have chosen asset lives that we believe correspond to the economic lives of the 
related assets. We have chosen depreciation methods that we believe generally match our benefit from the assets with 
the associated costs. These judgments have been made based on our expertise in each equipment type that we carry. If 
the asset life and depreciation method chosen do not reduce the book value of the asset to at least our potential future 
cash flows from the asset, we would be required to record an impairment loss. Depreciation methods and useful lives are 
periodically reviewed and revised as deemed appropriate.  

Investments in Debt Securities: Our investment portfolio may at any time contain direct obligations of the United States 
government, securities issued by agencies of the United States government, money market or cash management funds, 
corporate and government bond funds, and ARS. ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, establishes three levels of inputs 
that may be used to measure fair value (see Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K). 
Each level of input has different levels of subjectivity and difficulty in determining fair value.  

Level 1 — Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Determining fair 
value for Level 1 investments generally does not require significant management judgment.  

Level 2 — Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or through 
corroboration with observable market data.  

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs, for which there is little or no market data for the assets or liabilities, such as internally-
developed valuation models. The determination of fair value for Level 3 investments requires the most management 
judgment and subjectivity.  

All of the securities classified as Level 3 investments are ARS. At May 31, 2010, we held $14.3 million, at cost, of ARS. 
During fiscal 2010, we sold $7.3 million of our ARS at par value. During June and July 2010 we sold all of our remaining 
ARS to UBS at par value, for $14.3 million in cash. (See Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this 
Form 10-K.) Our ARS were long-term debt instruments backed by student loans, a substantial portion of which was 
guaranteed by the United States government. Prior to their sale, we valued the ARS from quotes received from our 
broker, UBS, which were derived from UBS’s internally developed model. In determining a discount factor for each ARS, 
the model weighted various factors, including assessments of credit quality, duration, insurance wraps, portfolio 
composition, discount rates, overall capital market liquidity and comparable securities, if any.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: On a quarterly basis, we review the carrying value of our rental and lease equipment to 
determine if the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable due to current and forecasted economic conditions. 
This requires us to make estimates related to future cash flows from the assets and to determine whether any 
deterioration is other than temporary. If these estimates or the related assumptions change in the future, we may be 
required to record additional impairment charges.  
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the 
inability of customers to pay our invoices. The estimated losses are based on historical collection experience in 
conjunction with an evaluation of the status of the existing accounts. If the financial condition of our customers were to 
deteriorate, then additional allowances could be required that would reduce income. Conversely, if the financial condition 
of our customers were to improve or if legal remedies to collect past due amounts were more successful than expected, 
then the allowance for doubtful accounts might need to be reduced and income would be increased.  

Goodwill Impairment: Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of a business over the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets acquired. We recognized goodwill of $3.1 million on the acquisition of Rush Computer Rentals in January 2006. 
Impairment testing for goodwill is performed annually, on May 31, or more frequently if indications of potential impairment 
exist under the provisions of ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (“ASC 350”). The impairment test for goodwill 
uses a two-step approach, which is performed at the reporting unit level. We have separate operating segments (reporting 
units) for T&M and DP equipment, although these two segments are aggregated into a single reportable segment in 
accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting. Step one of the impairment test compares the fair value of the reporting 
unit using a market approach to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, there is a potential 
impairment and step two must be performed. Step two compares the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to its 
implied fair value (i.e., fair value of reporting unit less the fair value of the unit’s assets and liabilities, including identifiable 
intangible assets). If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than the carrying amount of goodwill, impairment is 
recognized.  

Definite-lived Intangible Assets: Definite-lived intangible assets consist of customer lists and covenants not-to-compete. 
The assets are amortized over their useful lives and reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC 350. If any 
indications of impairment are present, then we test for recoverability by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the 
net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the asset. If the net undiscounted cash flows indicate the 
asset is not recoverable, we determine the fair value of the asset and record any impairment. We reevaluate the useful life 
determinations for these intangible assets each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances warrant 
a revision in their remaining useful lives.  

Income Taxes: We are required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Significant 
judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities. This process 
involves us estimating actual current tax exposure and assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment 
of items, such as depreciation and amortization, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We then assess the likelihood that our 
deferred tax assets will be recovered. To the extent management believes that recovery is not likely, we establish a 
valuation allowance. We determined that a valuation allowance was required in fiscal 2010 and 2009 of $0.5 million and 
$0.3 million, respectively, for our deferred tax asset related to certain foreign net operating loss carry forwards and other 
related timing differences. There was no valuation allowance required for fiscal 2008.  

Effective January 1, 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued new accounting guidance regarding 
uncertain income tax positions. This guidance found under ASC 740, Income Taxes, provides that the tax effects of a 
position be recognized only if it is “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained based solely on its technical merits as of the 
reporting date. The more-likely-than-not threshold represents a positive assertion by us that our company is entitled to the 
economic benefits of a tax position. If a tax position is not considered more-likely-than-not to be sustained based solely on 
its technical merits, no benefits of the position are to be recognized. Moreover, the more-likely-than-not threshold must 
continue to be met in each reporting period to support continued recognition of a benefit. At adoption, companies must 
adjust their financial statements to reflect only those tax positions that are more-likely-than-not to be sustained as of the 
adoption date. Any necessary adjustment would be recorded directly to retained earnings in the period of adoption and 
reported as a change in accounting principle. Pursuant to our adoption of this guidance on June 1, 2007, we recorded a 
net decrease of $0.4 million to retained earnings.     
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Off BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS  

As of May 31, 2010 we did not have any “off-balance-sheet arrangements,” as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation 
S-K.  

Item 7A.

 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

  
We could be exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.  

Interest Rate and Market Risk.   

While we have the ability to draw on our revolving credit line, we have not had any borrowings under that credit facility for 
several years.  

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing the income 
we receive from our investments without significantly increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we maintain our portfolio 
of cash equivalents and investments in a variety of high quality securities, including direct obligations of the United States 
government, securities issued by agencies of the United States government, AAA-rated money market or cash 
management funds, corporate and government bond funds and ARS. A hypothetical increase in interest rates by 10% 
would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.  

At May 31, 2010, our only investments held for trading purposes were ARS with a par value of $14.3 million, all of which 
were subsequently purchased by UBS at par during June and July 2010 pursuant to an agreement with UBS entered into 
on November 6, 2008. (See Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.)  

Changes in Foreign Currencies.   

We have wholly owned Chinese and European subsidiaries. In addition, we have revenues, cash and cash equivalents 
and accounts receivable in other foreign currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar. Our international operations subject us 
to foreign currency risks (i.e., the possibility that the financial results could be better or worse than planned because of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates). During fiscal 2010 we began using forward contracts to hedge our economic 
exposure with respect to assets, liabilities and firm commitments denominated in foreign currencies. Although there can 
be no assurances, given the extent of our international operations and our hedging, we do not expect a 10% change in 
foreign currency rates to have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet.  

Item 8.

 

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.   

See Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.   

Supplemental Financial Information regarding quarterly results is contained in Note 17 — Quarterly Information 
(unaudited), in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-27 of this Form 10-K.  

Item 9.

 

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

  

Not Applicable

  

Item 9A.

 

Controls and Procedures.   

As of May 31, 2010, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have, with the participation of 
our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures, as such terms are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report were effective.  



  

25  

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting   

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Our management assessed the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2010. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria 
set forth in Internal Control Integrated Framework by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”). Our management has concluded that, as of May 31, 2010, our internal control over financial 
reporting is effective based on these criteria.  

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, who audited our consolidated financial 
statements included in this Form 10-K has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, 
which is included below.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) 
that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls  

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure 
controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well 
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system 
are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits 
of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no 
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our 
company have been detected. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Electro Rent Corporation 
Van Nuys, California  

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Electro Rent Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of May 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s 
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s 
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future 
periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
May 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended May 31, 2010 of the Company and our report 
dated August 12, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.  

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP   

Los Angeles, California 
August 12, 2010 
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Item 9B.

 
Other Information.   

Not Applicable.   

PART III

  
Item 10.

 
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.   

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement with respect to our 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 
September 28, 2010.  

Item 11. Executive Compensation.   

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement with respect to our 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 
September 28, 2010.  

Item 12.

 

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement with respect to our 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 
September 28, 2010.  

Item 13.

 

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement with respect to our 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 
September 28, 2010.  

Item 14.

 

Principal Accountant Fees and Services.   

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement with respect to our 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 
September 28, 2010. 
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PART IV

  
Item 15.

 
Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.   

(a) Financial Statements.   

1. Index to Financial Statements:    

Page

 

See Consolidated Financial Statements included as part of this Form 10-K. Pursuant to 
Rule 7-05 of Regulation S-X, the schedules have been omitted as the information to be set 
forth therein is included in the notes of the audited consolidated financial statements.   F-1  

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient 
to require submission of a schedule, or because the information required is included in the financial statements or related 
notes.  

(b) Exhibits.    

Number  Document Description    

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed October 3, 1984 (11)    

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed October 24, 1988 (11)    

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed October 15, 1997 (5)    

3.4 Bylaws of Registrant, adopted February 6, 1979 (11)    

3.5 Amendment of Bylaws of Registrant, adopted October 6, 1994 (1)    

3.6 Amendment of Bylaws of Registrant, adopted November 15, 1996 (3)    

3.7 Amendment of Bylaws of Registrant, adopted July 11, 2002 (11)    

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (11)    

10.1 Electro Rent Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan (11) **    

10.2 Executive Employment Agreement (Amended and Restated as of July 15, 1992) between Registrant and

 

Daniel Greenberg (11) **    

10.3 Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement (Amended and Restated as of July 15, 1992)

 

between Registrant and Daniel Greenberg, dated October 12, 2001 (6) **    

10.4 Employment Agreement between Registrant and Steven Markheim, dated as of October 31, 2005 (8) **    

10.5 Employment Agreement between Registrant and Craig R. Jones, dated as of October 31, 2005 (8) **    

10.6 1996 Stock Option Plan (2) **    

10.7 Form of Stock Option Agreement (Incentive Stock Option) (1996 Plan) (2) **    

10.8 Form of Stock Option Agreement (Nonstatutory Stock Option) (1996 Plan) (2) **    

10.9 Amendment Number One to 1996 Stock Option Plan, adopted November 1, 1996 (4) ** 
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Number  Document Description    

10.10 Amendment No.1 to 1996 Stock Option Plan, 1996 Director Option Plan, and 2002 Employee Stock Option

 
Plan (7) **    

10.11 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (9) **    

10.12 Form of 2005 Stock Option Agreement (9) **    

10.13 Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement (Employee) (10) **    

10.14 Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement (Director) (11) **    

10.15 Form of Indemnification Agreement (11) **    

10.16 Commercial Credit Agreement dated as of September 29, 2008 between Electro Rent Corporation (the

 

“Company”) and Union Bank of California, N.A. (12)    

10.17 First Amendment to Commercial Credit Agreement dated as of March 4, 2009 between the Company and

 

Union Bank of California, N.A (12)    

10.18 Second Amendment to Commercial Credit Agreement dated as of September 16, 2009 between the

 

Company and Union Bank of California, N.A. (12)    

10.19 Asset Purchase Agreement between Registrant and Telogy, LLC dated as of March 16, 2010 (13)    

10.20 Agreement between the Company and UBS regarding Auction Rate Securities (12)    

14 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (11)    

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.   
• Genstar Rental Electronics, Inc., a Canadian corporation   
• ER International, Inc., a Delaware corporation   
• Electro Rent Asia, Inc., a California corporation   
• Electro Rent (Tianjin) Rental Co., Ltd., a Chinese wholly foreign-owned enterprise   
• Electro Rent Europe NV, a Belgium corporation   
• Electro Rent, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company    

23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm (14)    

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer (14)    

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer (14)    

32.1 Section 1350 Certification by Principal Executive Officer (14)    

32.2 Section 1350 Certification by Chief Financial Officer (14) 
____________  

** This exhibit is a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.  

(1) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1995.  

(2) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1996.  

(3) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1997.  
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(4) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed December 5, 1996 
(Registration No. 333-17295).  

(5) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1998.  

(6) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2003.  

(7) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed December 2, 2003.  

(8) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 1, 2005.  

(9) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed December 20, 2005 (File No. 
333-130487).  

(10) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 21, 2009.  

(11) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2009.  

(12) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q For the quarterly period ended 
February 28, 2010.  

(13) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 22, 2010.  

(14) Filed herewith.   

(c) Schedule of Financial Statements

  

None.  



  

31  

SIGNATURES

  
Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.   

Electro Rent Corporation   

Dated: August 12, 2010. By   /s/ Daniel Greenberg   

   
Daniel Greenberg    
Chief Executive Officer and Director  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE    

/s/ Daniel Greenberg 

 

Daniel Greenberg 
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer 

August 12, 2010    

/s/ Craig R. Jones 

 

Craig R. Jones 
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

August 12, 2010    

/s/ Gerald D. Barrone 

 

Gerald D. Barrone 
Director August 12, 2010    

/s/ Nancy Y. Bekavac 

 

Nancy Y. Bekavac 
Director August 12, 2010    

/s/ Karen J. Curtin 

 

Karen J. Curtin 
Director August 12, 2010    

/s/ Joseph J. Kearns 

 

Joseph J. Kearns 
Director August 12, 2010    

/s/ James S. Pignatelli 

 

James S. Pignatelli 
Director August 12, 2010    

/s/ Suzan K. DelBene 

 

Suzan K. DelBene 
Director August 12, 2010  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2010 F-3 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at May 31, 2010 and 2009 F-4 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for each of the three years in the period ended 

May 31, 2010 F-5 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2010 F-6 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Electro Rent Corporation 
Van Nuys, California  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Electro Rent Corporation and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of May 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2010. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company at May 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended May 31, 2010, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated August 12, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting.  

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP   

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 
AUGUST 12, 2010  
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ELECTRO RENT 2010 ANNUAL REPORT  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

Year Ended May 31,  
(in thousands, except per share information)  2010  2009  2008 
Revenues:    

   
Rentals and leases $ 94,201 $ 98,395

  
$ 108,761

 
Sales of equipment and other revenues  51,666  32,086

  
35,775

 
Total revenues  145,867  130,481

  
144,536

 

Operating expenses:    

   

Depreciation of rental and lease equipment  42,605  46,056

  

44,987

 

Costs of revenues other than depreciation of rental and lease equipment  39,061  22,574

  

24,914

 

Selling, general and administrative expenses  46,447  44,456

  

43,940

 

Gain on bargain purchase  (679)

  

—

  

—

 

Total operating expenses  127,434  113,086

  

113,841

 

Operating profit  18,433  17,395

  

30,695

 

Interest income, net  1,599  1,507

  

3,292

 

Income before income taxes  20,032  18,902

  

33,987

 

Income tax provision  8,435  7,150

  

12,883

 

Net income $ 11,597 $ 11,752

  

$ 21,104

 

Earnings per share:    

   

Basic $ 0.48

 

$ 0.47

  

$ 0.81

 

Diluted $ 0.48

 

$ 0.47

  

$ 0.81

 

Shares used in per share calculation:    

   

Basic  23,932  24,899

  

25,910

 

Diluted  24,004  24,980

  

26,079

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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ELECTRO RENT 2010 ANNUAL REPORT  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

As of May 31,  
(in thousands, except share information)  2010  2009 
Assets  

   
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 32,906

  
$ 22,215

 
Investments available-for-sale, at fair value (cost of $27,896)  —

  
28,188

 
Investments, trading, at fair value (cost of $14,275 and $21,600)  13,323

  
19,977

 

Put option  952

  

1,623

 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $536 and $317  25,670

  

16,271

 

Rental and lease equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $177,380 and $179,318  173,647

  

158,252

 

Other property, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $16,055 and $15,207  13,585

  

13,781

 

Goodwill  3,109

  

3,109

 

Intangibles, net of amortization of $2,017 and $1,741  1,398

  

734

 

Other  11,478

  

7,184

   

$ 276,068

  

$ 271,334

 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity  

   

Liabilities:  

   

Accounts payable  $ 8,294

  

$ 3,291

 

Accrued expenses  14,240

  

15,023

 

Deferred revenue  6,022

  

4,281

 

Deferred tax liability  17,550

  

19,986

 

Total liabilities  46,106

  

42,581

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)  

   

Shareholders’ equity:  

   

Preferred stock, $1 par — shares authorized 1,000,000; none issued  

   

Common stock, no par — shares authorized 40,000,000; issued and outstanding 2010 - 
23,960,694; 2009 — 23,953,540  33,555

  

32,596

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax  —

  

176

 

Retained earnings  196,407

  

195,981

 

Total shareholders’ equity  229,962

  

228,753

   

$ 276,068

  

$ 271,334

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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ELECTRO RENT 2010 ANNUAL REPORT  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

Common Stock 

   
Accumulated 

Other   Total 
Three years ended May 31,  
(in thousands) 

Number 
of Shares Amount 

Comprehensive 
Income/(Loss) 

Retained 
Earnings 

Shareholders’ 
Equity 

Balance, May 31, 2007  25,813 $ 32,212  $ — $ 211,267  $ 243,479 
Exercise of stock options and issuance of restricted 
shares  144  1,366  —  —  1,366 

Tax benefit for stock options exercised  —  175  —  —  175 
Non-cash stock compensation  —  200  —  —  200 
Repurchase of common stock  (12)  (15)

  

—  (137)

  

(152) 
Dividends declared  —  —  —  (9,079)

  

(9,079) 
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN 48  —  —  —  (366)

  

(366) 
Comprehensive income:           

Unrealized losses on investments available-for-
sale, net of $380 of tax benefit  —  —  (619)  —  (619) 

Net income for the year ended May 31, 2008  —  —  —  21,104   21,104

 

Total comprehensive income          20,485 
Balance, May 31, 2008  25,945  33,938  (619)  222,789  256,108 

Exercise of stock options and issuance of restricted 
shares  147  1,327  —  —  1,327 

Tax benefit for stock options exercised  —  49  —  —  49 
Non-cash stock compensation expense  —  158  —  —  158 
Repurchase of common stock  (2,138)  (2,876)

  

—  (19,937)

  

(22,813) 
Dividends declared  —  —  —  (18,623)

  

(18,623) 
Comprehensive income:           

Realized loss on transfer of investments 
available-for-sale to investments, trading  —  —  619  —  619 

Unrealized gains on investments available-for-
sale, net of $116 of tax expense  —  —  176  —  176 

Net income for the year ended May 31, 2009  —  —  —  11,752   11,752

 

Total comprehensive income          12,547 
Balance, May 31, 2009  23,954  32,596  176  195,981  228,753 

Exercise of stock options and issuance of restricted 
shares  51  454  —  —  454 

Tax deficit for stock options expired, net of tax 
benefit for stock options exercised  —  (45)

  

—  —  (45) 
Non-cash stock compensation expense  —  610  —  —  610 
Repurchase of common stock  (44)  (60)

  

—  (335)

  

(395) 
Dividends declared  —  —  —  (10,836)

  

(10,836) 
Comprehensive income:           

Unrealized gains arising during the year, net of 
$238 of tax expense  —  —  310  —  310 

Less: Reclassification adjustment for gains 
realized in net income, net of $354 of tax 
expense  —  —   (486)  —   (486) 

Realized gain on investments available-for-sale, 
net of $116 of tax expense      (176)  —  (176) 

Net income for the year ended May 31, 2010  —  —  —  11,597   11,597

 

Total comprehensive income          11,421 
Balance, May 31, 2010  23,961 $ 33,555  $ — $ 196,407  $ 229,962 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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ELECTRO RENT 2010 ANNUAL REPORT  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

Year Ended May 31, 
(in thousands)  2010  2009  2008 
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net income $ 11,597 $ 11,752 $ 21,104 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization  43,759  47,226  46,535 
Put option loss (gain)  671  (1,623)

  

— 
Unrealized holding (gains) losses for trading securities  (671)

  

1,623  — 
Remeasurement loss (gain)  93  445  (440)

 

Gain on sale of investments available-for-sale  (841)

  

—  — 
Gain on sale of rental and lease equipment  (10,768)

  

(8,952)

  

(10,830)

 

Gain on bargain purchase  (679)

  

—  — 
Deferred tax liability  (2,802)

  

4,588  530 
Stock compensation expense  610  158  200 
Provision for losses on accounts receivable  529  481  425 
Excess tax benefit for stock options exercised  (62)

  

(49)

  

(175)

 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       
Accounts receivable  (7,545)

  

6,170  (5,995)

 

Other assets  (4,268)

  

(1,779)

  

312 
Accounts payable  939  508  (539)

 

Accrued expenses  2,467  (945)

  

3,186 
Deferred revenue  1,144  (626)

  

(135)

 

Net cash provided by operating activities  34,173  58,977  54,178 
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Proceeds from sale of rental and lease equipment  36,661  27,342  31,137 
Cash paid for acquisition  (24,653)

  

—  — 
Payments for purchase of rental and lease equipment  (56,891)

  

(51,956)

  

(80,975)

 

Payments for purchase of investments  —  (27,896)

  

(3,500)

 

Redemptions of investments available-for-sale  28,737  —  — 
Redemptions of investments, trading  7,325  2,000  3,450 
Payments for purchase of other property  (682)

  

(275)

  

(398)

 

Net cash used in investing activities  (9,503)

  

(50,785)

  

(50,286)

 

Cash flows from financing activities:       
Excess tax benefit for stock options exercised  62  49  175 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  454  1,327  1,366 
Payments for repurchase of common stock  (395)

  

(22,813)

  

(152)

 

Payment of dividends  (14,360)

  

(15,030)

  

(11,659)

 

Net cash used in financing activities  (14,239)

  

(36,467)

  

(10,270)

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  10,431  (28,275)

  

(6,378)

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  260  (474)

  

170 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  22,215  50,964  57,172 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 32,906 $ 22,215 $ 50,964 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.         
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2010, 2009 AND 2008 
(in thousands, except per share amounts)   

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements include Electro Rent Corporation and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries (collectively “we”, “us”, or “our” hereafter). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated 
in consolidation.  

Business and Organization: We primarily engage in the short-term rental and lease of state-of-the-art electronic 
equipment. We maintain an equipment portfolio composed primarily of test and measurement equipment (“T&M”) and 
personal computer-related data products (“DP”) equipment purchased from leading manufacturers. Another aspect of our 
business is the sale of equipment after its utilization for rental or lease and the sale of a range of new T&M equipment 
through our new Authorized Technology Partnership (“ATP”) sales agreement with Agilent Technologies, Inc (“Agilent”), 
which we entered into effective December 1, 2009. Our ATP agreement with Agilent gives us the with exclusive right to 
sell Agilent’s more complex T&M equipment to small to medium size customers (who previously purchased directly from 
Agilent) in the United States and Canada. We began selling T&M equipment under the ATP sales agreement during our 
third fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2010. In connection with the execution of this agreement, we terminated our prior 
distribution agreement with Agilent, which was our largest distribution agreement and related to less complex T&M 
equipment.  

We conduct our business activities in the United States, and our wholly owned subsidiaries, Electro Rent, LLC, Electro 
Rent Europe, NV, and Electro Rent (Tianjin) Rental Co., Ltd. conduct some or all of these business activities in Canada, 
Europe and China, respectively. Our wholly owned subsidiary, Genstar Rental Electronics, Inc. conducted some of these 
business activities in Canada through fiscal 2010, but is now inactive. Our wholly owned subsidiary, Electro Rent Asia, 
Inc., is the U.S. parent company of Electro Rent (Tianjin) Rental Co., Ltd. and our wholly owned subsidiary, ER 
International, Inc., is the U.S. parent company of Electro Rent Europe, NV.  

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities as well as the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of these financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On a regular basis, we review these 
estimates including those related to asset lives and depreciation methods, impairment of long-lived assets, including 
rental and lease equipment, goodwill and intangibles, investments, allowance for doubtful accounts, income taxes and 
contingencies and litigation. These estimates are based on our evaluation of current business and economic conditions, 
historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe, however, that our estimates, 
including those for the above-listed items, are reasonable.  

Revenue Recognition: Rental and lease revenues are recognized in the month they are due on the accrual basis of 
accounting. Rentals and leases are primarily billed to customers in advance, and unearned billings are recorded as 
deferred revenue. Other revenues consist of billings to customers for equipment sales, delivery, or repairs. Those 
revenues are recognized in the period in which the respective equipment is shipped and risk of loss is passed to the 
customer or the period in which the services are performed. In the case of equipment that is sold to customers that is 
already on rent or lease to the same party, revenue is recognized at the agreed-upon date when the rent or lease term 
ends. Negotiated lease early-termination charges are recognized upon receipt.      



  

F-8 

Rental and Lease Equipment and Other Property: Assets are generally stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
Upon retirement or disposal of assets, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the 
accounts and any gain or loss is recognized. We depreciate our buildings over 31.5 years, furniture and other equipment 
over three to ten years, and leasehold improvements over three to five years. Each is depreciated on a straight-line basis. 
Depreciation of rental and lease equipment and other property is computed using straight-line and accelerated methods 
over the estimated useful lives of the respective equipment. Generally, new rental and lease equipment is depreciated 
over three to ten years, and used equipment over two to nine years, depending on the type of equipment. Depreciation 
methods and useful lives are periodically reviewed and revised, as deemed appropriate. Normal maintenance and repairs 
are expensed as incurred. Rental and lease equipment at net book value comprised $168,400 of T&M equipment and 
$5,247 of DP equipment at May 31, 2010 and $150,807 of T&M equipment and $7,445 of DP equipment at May 31, 2009.  

Income Taxes: We recognize a liability or asset for the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. These temporary differences will 
result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when reported amounts of the assets or liabilities are recovered or 
settled. The deferred tax assets are periodically reviewed for recoverability.  

Effective June 1, 2007 we adopted new accounting guidance which defines the minimum threshold that an uncertain 
income tax benefit is required to meet before it can be recognized in the financial statements and applies to all income tax 
positions taken by a company. This guidance requires that the tax effects of a position be recognized only if it is “more-
likely-than-not” to be sustained based solely on its technical merits as of the reporting date. The more-likely-than-not 
threshold represents a positive assertion by us that our company is entitled to the economic benefits of a tax position. If a 
tax position is not considered more-likely-than-not to be sustained based solely on its technical merits, no benefits of the 
position are to be recognized. Moreover, the more-likely-than-not threshold must continue to be met in each reporting 
period to support continued recognition of a benefit. At adoption, companies must adjust their financial statements to 
reflect only those tax positions that are more-likely-than-not to be sustained as of the adoption date. Any necessary 
adjustment would be recorded directly to retained earnings in the period of adoption and reported as a change in 
accounting principle. Pursuant to our adoption of this new guidance on June 1, 2007, we recorded a net decrease of $366 
to retained earnings.  

We recognize interest, penalties and foreign currency gains and losses with respect to uncertain tax positions as 
components of our income tax provision. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax liability line in 
the consolidated balance sheet.  

Impairment of Assets: The carrying value of equipment held for rental and lease is assessed quarterly or when factors 
indicating impairment are present. We recognize impairment losses on equipment held for rental and lease when the 
expected future undiscounted cash flows are less than the asset’s carrying value, in which case the asset is written down 
to its estimated fair value. There were no such impairment charges during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008.  

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: We have goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over the fair 
value of net assets acquired, and other intangible assets, such as customer relationships, non-compete agreements and 
trade name as a result of our acquisition of Rush Computer Rentals, Inc. in January 2006, and the purchase of certain 
assets and select post-closing liabilities of Telogy, LLC in March 2010, discussed further in Note 4. Goodwill is not 
amortized and is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances 
change that would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The intangible assets, with the 
exception of the trade name, are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment of goodwill and 
identifiable intangible assets is permanently recognized by writing down the asset to the extent that the carrying value 
exceeds the estimated fair value. Goodwill and intangibles have not been impaired.     
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Cash and Cash Equivalents: We consider highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of 
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of AAA-rated money market funds in all periods 
presented.  

Investments — Available-for-Sale and Trading: Except for direct obligations of the United States government, 
securities issued by agencies of the United States government, and money market or cash management funds, we 
diversify our investments by limiting our holdings with any individual issuer. At the end of fiscal 2009, our investments 
available-for-sale consisted of corporate and government bond funds. We had no investments available-for-sale at the 
end of fiscal 2010. Our investments, trading consisted of auction rate securities (“ARS”) at the end of fiscal 2010 and 
2009. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recorded in accumulated 
other comprehensive income, net of tax. Realized gains and losses and declines in value considered to be other than 
temporary are included in income in the period they occur. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific 
identification method. During the second quarter of fiscal 2010, we sold our available-for-sale securities for $28,737 and 
reclassified a realized gain of $841 out of accumulated other comprehensive income, into interest income, net, in our 
consolidated statements of operations. During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, we reclassified our ARS from available-
for-sale to trading securities. Investments that are designated as trading securities are reported at fair value, with gains or 
losses resulting from changes in fair value recognized in earnings (see Note 2 for further discussion).  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from 
the inability of customers to make rental and lease payments. The estimated losses are based on historical collection 
experience in conjunction with an evaluation of the current status of the existing accounts. If the financial condition of our 
customers were to deteriorate, then additional allowances could be required that would reduce income. Conversely, if the 
financial condition of our customers were to improve or if legal remedies to collect past due amounts were more 
successful than expected, then the allowance for doubtful accounts may need to be reduced and income would be 
increased.  

Concentration of Credit Risk: Financial instruments that potentially expose us to concentration of credit risk consist 
primarily of cash equivalents, investments and trade accounts receivable. We invest excess cash primarily in money 
market funds of major financial institutions, corporate and government bond funds, and ARS. Excess cash of $27,802 was 
invested in four large money market funds, and $14,275, at cost, was invested in ARS as of May 31, 2010 (see Note 2 for 
further discussion). We believe that we are not exposed to any significant financial risk with respect to cash and cash 
equivalents. For trade accounts receivable, we sell primarily on 30-day terms, perform credit evaluation procedures on 
each customer’s individual transactions and require security deposits or personal guarantees from our customers when 
significant credit risks are identified. Typically, most customers are large, established firms. We seek to maintain an 
adequate allowance for potential credit losses.  

We purchase rental and lease equipment, including equipment sold under distribution agreements, from numerous 
vendors and new equipment, in connection with our ATP sales agreement, from Agilent. During fiscal 2010, 2009, and 
2008, Agilent accounted for approximately 75%, 59% and 58%, respectively, of all new equipment purchases. No other 
vendor accounted for more than 10% of such purchases.  

Foreign Currency: The assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are remeasured from their foreign currency to 
U.S. dollars at current or historic exchange rates, as appropriate. The U.S. dollar has been determined to be our 
functional currency. Revenues and expenses are remeasured from any foreign currencies to U.S. dollars using historic 
rates or an average monthly rate, as appropriate, for the month in which the transaction occurred. Remeasurement gains 
and losses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses or income taxes as appropriate. The assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses of our foreign subsidiaries are individually less than 10% of our respective consolidated 
amounts. The euro, Canadian dollar and Chinese yuan are our primary foreign currencies.      
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On occasion, we have entered into forward contracts to hedge against unfavorable fluctuations in our monetary assets 
and liabilities, primarily in our European and Canadian operations. These contracts are designed to minimize the effect of 
fluctuations in foreign currencies. Such derivative instruments, not designated as hedging instruments, are recorded at fair 
value as a current asset or liability, and any changes in fair value are recorded in our consolidated statements of 
operations.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance intended to improve financial reporting disclosures about 
derivative instruments and hedging activities. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows. We applied the requirements of the new guidance on a prospective basis. 
Accordingly, disclosures related to periods prior to the date of adoption have not been presented. The fair value of our 
foreign exchange forward contracts in the consolidated balance sheet as of May 31, 2010 is shown in the table below:  

Derivatives Not Designated as  
Hedging Instruments 

 

Consolidated Balance Sheet Location

   

Fair Value 

 

Foreign exchange forward contracts Other  $ 176  

The table below provides data about the amount of fiscal 2010 gains recognized in income for derivative instruments not 
designated as hedging instruments:  

Derivatives Not Designated as  
Hedging Instruments 

  

Location of Gain Recognized in Income on Derivatives

   

Gain 

 

Foreign exchange forward contracts Selling, general and administrative expenses

 

$ 390

  

Net Income Per Common and Common Equivalent Share: Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed as net 
income divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the reported year, excluding 
the dilutive effects of stock options and other potentially dilutive securities. Diluted EPS is computed as net income divided 
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding of common stock and common stock equivalents for the reported 
year. Common stock equivalents result from the dilutive effects of restricted stock and stock options computed using the 
treasury stock method.  

Cash Flow: Supplemental disclosures of cash paid during the fiscal year for:   

Year ended May 31,  2010  2009  2008 
Interest $ 21

 

$ 15

 

$ 13

 

Income taxes  10,022

  

1,104

  

8,529

  

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities: We had accounts payable and other 
accruals related to acquired equipment totaling $6,167, $2,098, and $3,824, at May 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, 
respectively, which amounts were subsequently paid. During fiscal 2009, we (i) transferred $20,909 from investments 
available-for-sale to investments, trading; (ii) increased shareholders’ equity by $176, net of tax expense of $116, as a 
result of unrealized gains on investments available-for-sale; and (iii) recorded $3,593 of dividends declared and not yet 
paid as accrued expenses and a reduction of retained earnings. There were no similar activities in fiscal 2010 or 2008.  

Stock-Based Compensation: Share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, are 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements as compensation expense over the period that an employee provides 
service in exchange for the award based on its fair value. Compensation expense resulting from restricted stock and 
restricted stock units is measured at fair value on the date of grant and is recognized in selling, general and administrative 
expenses over the vesting period (see Note 14 for further discussion).       
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Fair Value Measurements: Effective June 1, 2008, we adopted accounting guidance for financial assets and liabilities, 
which defines fair value, provides guidance for measuring fair value and requires certain disclosures. The guidance 
discusses valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market prices), the income approach (present 
value of future income or cash flow) and the cost approach (cost to replace the service capacity of an asset or 
replacement cost). The statement establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value into three broad levels.  

As of May 31, 2010 and 2009 we held certain assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis. These included cash equivalents, available-for-sale securities, trading securities, put option and foreign 
currency derivatives. The fair values of available-for-sale securities are obtained from quoted market prices. The fair value 
of the trading securities and put option are determined by the use of pricing models (see Note 3 for further discussion).  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance on interim disclosures 
about fair value of financial instruments. This guidance relates to fair value disclosures for any financial instrument not 
currently reflected on the balance sheet at fair value, and requires quarterly disclosures of qualitative and quantitative 
information about fair value estimates for financial instruments not measured on the balance sheet at fair value. The 
adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance for determining fair value when there is no active market or 
where the price inputs being used represent distressed sales. This guidance reaffirms the need to use judgment to 
ascertain if a formerly active market has become inactive and in determining fair values when markets have become 
inactive. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance on management’s assessment of subsequent events, including 
guidance on the scope and timing. This guidance defines which types of subsequent events should be recognized in the 
financial statements and the extent to which an entity should disclose information regarding subsequent events. The 
adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments. This guidance changed 
the method for determining whether an other-than-temporary impairment exists for debt securities and the amount of the 
impairment to be recorded in earnings as well as expanded and increased the frequency of existing disclosures about 
other-than-temporary impairments of debt and equity securities. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material 
impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance on business combinations. This guidance revises the method of 
accounting for a number of aspects of business combinations, including acquisition costs, contingencies (including 
contingent assets, contingent liabilities and contingent purchase price), and post acquisition exit activities of acquired 
businesses. In addition, this new guidance will require us to expense acquisition costs for future acquisitions. Our Telogy 
acquisition, as well as any future acquisitions, will be accounted for under this guidance (see Note 4 for further 
discussion).  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance on determining the useful lives of intangible assets. This 
guidance amends the factors an entity should consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions used in 
determining the useful life of recognized intangible assets and adds certain disclosures for an entity’s accounting policy 
regarding treatment of the costs, period of extension, and total costs incurred. We applied this new guidance prospectively 
to all recognized intangible assets. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial condition, 
results of operations or cash flows.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance addressing accounting for instruments granted in share-based 
payment transactions. This guidance defines which types of instruments granted by an entity in share-based payment 
transactions should be considered as participating securities prior to vesting and, therefore, should be included in the 
earnings allocation in computing earnings per share. This guidance required us to retrospectively adjust our earnings per 
share data (including any amounts related to interim periods, summaries of earnings and selected financial data) to 
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conform to the provisions of the guidance. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

Effective June 1, 2009, we adopted accounting guidance on non-controlling interests in consolidated financial statements. 
The new accounting guidance requires that a noncontrolling interest in the equity of a subsidiary be accounted for and 
reported as equity, provides revised guidance on the treatment of net income and losses attributable to the noncontrolling 
interest and changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary, and requires additional disclosures that identify and 
distinguish between the interests of the controlling and noncontrolling owners. The adoption of the new guidance did not 
have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

Effective September 1, 2009, we adopted guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures, which provides 
clarification that, in the absence of a quoted price for a liability, companies may apply methods that use the quoted price 
of an investment traded as an asset or other valuation techniques consistent with the fair-value measurement principle. 
The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash 
flows.  

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board amended revenue recognition guidance for arrangements 
with multiple deliverables. The guidance eliminates the residual method of revenue recognition and allows the use of 
management’s best estimate of the selling price for individual elements of an arrangement when vendor specific objective 
evidence, vendor objective evidence or third-party evidence is unavailable. This guidance will be effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after June 15, 2010. We will be required to adopt this guidance beginning with our first quarter of fiscal 
2012. We do not anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on our financial condition, results 
of operations or cash flows.  

Note 2: Investments  

Investments available-for-sale consist of corporate and government bond funds, while our investments, trading consist of 
ARS. Our investments are carried at fair value. Except for direct obligations of the United States government, securities 
issued by agencies of the United States government, and money market or cash management funds, we diversify our 
investments by limiting our holdings with any individual issuer.  

When made, our investments are intended to establish a high-quality portfolio that preserves principal, meets liquidity 
needs, avoids inappropriate concentrations and delivers an appropriate yield in relationship to our investment guidelines 
and market conditions.  

At May 31, 2010 and 2009, we held $14,275 and $21,600, at cost, of ARS. During June and July 2010 we sold all of our 
remaining ARS to UBS AG (“UBS”) at par plus accrued interest, for $14.3 million in cash when we exercised our put right 
(the “Put Option”) under a November 2008 settlement agreement (“Agreement”) with UBS (see Note 18 for further 
discussion). Our ARS were long-term debt instruments backed by student loans, a substantial portion of which was 
guaranteed by the United States government. Prior to their sale, we valued the ARS from quotes received from our 
broker, UBS, which were derived from UBS’s internally developed model. In determining a discount factor for each ARS, 
the model weights various factors, including assessments of credit quality, duration, insurance wraps, portfolio 
composition, discount rates, overall capital market liquidity and comparable securities, if any. In accordance with 
accounting guidance, which permits an entity to elect the fair value option for financial assets and liabilities, we elected to 
measure the Put Option at fair value in order to match the changes in the fair value of the ARS. Simultaneously, we 
transferred our ARS from investments available-for-sale to trading securities. The transfer to trading securities reflected 
our intent to exercise our Put Option. The fair value of the trading securities and Put Option are determined by pricing 
models (see Note 3 for further discussion).     
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Pursuant to the Agreement, UBS Bank USA established a credit line for us in an amount up to 75% of the market value of 
the ARS that we pledged as collateral, with interest equal to the interest income that we received on our ARS 
investments, which was terminated as of July 1, 2010. We did not draw any amounts under this line.  

During the second quarter of fiscal 2010, we sold our available-for-sale securities for $28,737 and reclassified a realized 
gain of $841 out of accumulated other comprehensive income into interest income, net, in our consolidated statements of 
operations. At May 31, 2010, we did not hold any available-for-sale securities. At May 31, 2009, the gross unrealized 
gains included in other comprehensive income with respect to our available-for-sale securities were $292. Such 
unrealized gains did not affect net income for the applicable accounting period.  

The following is a summary of our available-for-sale securities:     

At May 31, 2009 

    

Available-for-sale Securities 

    

Gross  Gross     
Unrealized  Unrealized  Estimated   

Cost  Gains  Losses  Fair Value 
Government bond fund $ 13,896

  

$ 25  $—  $ 13,921 
Corporate bond fund  14,000

  

267  —  14,267  
$ 27,896

  

$ 292  $—  $ 28,188 

 

Note 3: Fair Value Measurements  

We measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, including cash equivalents, available-
for-sale securities, trading securities, Put Option and foreign currency derivatives. The fair value of these financial assets 
and liabilities was determined based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the 
last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value, as follows:  

Level 1 — Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;   

Level 2 — Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or through 
corroboration with observable market data; and   

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs, for which there is little or no market data for the assets or liabilities, such as 
internally-developed valuation models.                     
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows:     

At May 31, 2010 

   
Quoted Prices      

in Active  Significant     
Markets for  Other  Significant    

Identical  Observable  Unobservable    
Instruments  Inputs  Inputs  Total   

(Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  Balance 
Assets        

 
Money market funds  $ 27,802  $ —  $ — $ 27,802

 

Auction rate securities  —  —  13,323  13,323

 

Put option  —  —  952  952

 

Supplemental executive retirement plan  2,081  —  —  2,081

 

Foreign exchange forward contracts  —  176  —  176

 

Total assets measured at fair value  $ 29,883  $ 176  $ 14,275 $ 44,334

      

Liabilities 
Supplemental executive retirement plan  $ 2,081  $ —  $ — $ 2,081

 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  $ 2,081  $ —  $ — $ 2,081

         

At May 31, 2009 

   

Quoted Prices      
in Active  Significant     

Markets for  Other  Significant    
Identical  Observable  Unobservable    

Instruments  Inputs  Inputs  Total   
(Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  Balance 

Assets        

 

Money market funds  $ 15,600  $ —  $ — $ 15,600

 

Government bond fund  13,921  —  —  13,921

 

Corporate bond fund  14,267  —  —  14,267

 

Auction rate securities  —  —  19,977  19,977

 

Put option  —  —  1,623  1,623

 

Supplemental executive retirement plan  1,871  —  —  1,871

 

Total assets measured at fair value  $ 45,659  $ —  $ 21,600 $ 67,259

      

Liabilities        

 

Foreign exchange forward contract  $ —  $ 81  $ — $ 81

 

Supplemental executive retirement plan  1,871  —  —  1,871

 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  $ 1,871  $ 81  $ — $ 1,952

  

The fair value measures for our money market funds, government bond fund and corporate bond fund and supplemental 
executive retirement plan asset and liability were derived from quoted market prices in active markets and are included in 
Level 1 inputs. Foreign currency forward contracts were valued based on observable market spot and forward rates as of 
our reporting date and are included in Level 2 inputs. We valued our ARS from quotes received from UBS that were 
derived from UBS’s internally developed model. In determining a discount factor for each ARS, the model weights various 
factors, including assessments of credit quality, duration, insurance wraps, portfolio composition, discount rates, overall 
capital market liquidity and comparable securities, if any. The Put Option was a free standing asset separate from the 
ARS, and represented our contractual right to require UBS to purchase our ARS at par value during the period from June 
30, 2010 through July 2, 2012. In order to value the Put Option, we considered the intrinsic value, time value of money 
and our assessment of the credit worthiness of UBS. Our ARS and Put Option are included in Level 3 inputs.     



  

F-15 

The following table presents a reconciliation of all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, 
excluding accrued interest components, using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for fiscal 2010:     

May 31, 

    
2010 

  
2009 

    
Auction   Auction    

Rate   Rate   
Put Option  Securities  Put Option  Securities 

Fair value at beginning of period  $ 1,623 $ 19,977  $ — $ 22,601 
Settlements (at par)  —  (7,325)

  
—  (2,000)

 

Issuance of put option  —  —  1,891  — 
Unrealized gains (losses) included in interest income, net  (671)

  

671  (268)

  

(624)

 

Fair value at end of period  $ 952 $ 13,323  $ 1,623 $ 19,977 

 

We included in earnings unrealized gains of $89 and $913 for fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively, attributable to the 
remaining ARS we held on that date, and unrealized losses of $89 and $913 for fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively, 
attributable to our Put Option on those securities.  

Note 4: Acquisition  

On March 31, 2010, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, we completed the purchase of certain assets and the 
assumption of specified post-closing liabilities of Telogy, LLC (“Telogy”), for cash consideration of $24,653. We acquired 
Telogy in order to facilitate growth in our T&M business. Telogy, headquartered in Union City, California, was a leading 
provider of electronic T&M equipment. Telogy had previously filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the 
Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware, and we were the winning bidder in a 
Bankruptcy Court auction of Telogy’s assets. The purchase price, which is subject to post closing adjustments that are not 
expected to be significant, was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon our estimate of their 
respective fair values. Because the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired exceeded the acquisition cost, we 
recorded a bargain purchase gain with respect to this transaction. The bargain purchase reflects the recurring losses 
incurred by Telogy and liquidity constraints due to the difficult global economy and the recent bankruptcy filing.  

The following table provides estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of 
acquisition.  

Total cash consideration $ 24,653

   

Preliminary purchase price allocation:   
Accounts receivable  2,723 
Rental and lease equipment  22,922 
Customer relationships acquired  940 
Other  34 
Accrued expenses  (189)

 

Deferred tax liability  (481)

 

Deferred revenue  (617)

 

Net assets acquired  25,332

 

Bargain purchase gain, net of estimated taxes of $481 $ (679)
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The bargain purchase gain is included as a separate component of operating expenses.  

The fair value of assets acquired included gross accounts receivable of $3,153, of which an estimated $430 is not 
expected to be collected, resulting in a fair value of $2,723. Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and have a 
useful life of 8 years.  

Acquisition-related transaction costs of $180 are accounted for as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred 
and are included in our selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2010.  

The purchase of Telogy was an asset purchase, and Telogy’s operations were integrated with ours immediately after the 
closing date. Revenues and income before income taxes of $1,740 and $425, respectively, from the acquired customers 
were included in our consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2010.  

The following pro forma results of operations for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2010 and 2009 assume the acquisition of 
Telogy occurred as of the beginning of those periods. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative 
purposes only and do not purport to indicate the results of operations that would actually have occurred had the 
acquisition occurred on the dates indicated, nor are these results necessarily indicative of future consolidated results of 
operations. We have included the operating results of Telogy in our consolidated financial statements since the March 31, 
2010.  

Year ended May 31,  2010  2009 
Revenues  $ 161,518

  

$ 154,169

 

Net income  $ 9,453

  

$ 7,109

 

Earnings per share:  

   

Basic  $ 0.40

  

$ 0.29

 

Diluted  $ 0.39

  

$ 0.28

  

Note 5: Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination. Intangible assets resulting from the acquisitions of entities accounted for using 
the purchase method of accounting are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets acquired. Identifiable intangible 
assets comprise purchased customer relationships, and trade names, and other intangible assets.  

Our goodwill and intangibles at May 31, 2010 were the result of the acquisitions of Telogy on March 31, 2010 and of Rush 
Computer Rentals on January 31, 2006.  

The changes in carrying amount of goodwill and other intangible assets for fiscal 2010 and 2009 were as follows:    

Balance as of      
June 1, 2009      

(net of    Balance as of   
amortization)  Additions  Amortization  May 31, 2010 

Goodwill  $ 3,109  $ —  $ —  $ 3,109 
Trade name  411  —  —  411 
Non-compete agreements  166  —  (100)  66 
Customer relationships  157  940  (176)  921   

$ 3,843  $ 940  $ (276)  $ 4,507 

   

Balance as of      
June 1, 2008      

(net of    Balance as of   
amortization)  Additions  Amortization  May 31, 2009 

Goodwill  $ 3,109  $—  $ —  $ 3,109 
Trade name  411  —  —  411 
Non-compete agreements  266  —  (100)  166 
Customer relationships  392  —  (235)  157   

$ 4,178  $—  $ (335)  $ 3,843 
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Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.   

There were no conditions that indicated any impairment of goodwill or identifiable intangible assets in fiscal 2010, 2009 
and 2008. The annual impairment review date for goodwill is May 31.  

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives. The following table 
provides a summary of our intangible assets:     

May 31, 2010 

   

Estimated  Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying 

  

Useful Life  Amount  Amortization  Amount 
Trade name —

  

$ 411  $ —  $ 411 
Non-compete agreements 2-5 years

  

1,050  (984)  66 
Customer relationships 3-8 years

  

1,954  (1,033)  921    
$ 3,415  $ (2,017)  $ 1,398 

    

May 31, 2009 

   

Estimated  Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying 

  

Useful Life  Amount  Amortization  Amount 
Trade name —

  

$ 411  $ —  $ 411 
Non-compete agreements 2-5 years

  

1,050  (884)  166 
Customer relationships 3-4 years

  

1,014  (857)  157    
$ 2,475  $ (1,741)  $ 734 

 

Amortization expense was $276, $335, and $502 for fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  

Amortization expense for customer relationships and non-compete agreements is included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses. The following table provides estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets:    

Future  
Year ending May 31,  Amortization  
2011  $ 184 

 

2012  118  
2013  118  
2014  118  
2015  118  
Thereafter  331    

$ 987 

 

Note 6: Borrowings  

For many years, we have had a standby revolving line of credit for $10,000 with a bank. The line of credit is subject to 
annual renewals and is subject to certain restrictions. The interest rate on the line of credit is based on the prime rate or 
LIBOR plus 1.25%. We had no borrowings outstanding during fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008. At May 31, 2010, we are in 
compliance with the financial covenants contained in the revolving line of credit agreement and expect to continue to be in 
compliance with them.           
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Note 7: Income Taxes  

On June 1, 2007, we adopted new accounting guidance which establishes a single model to address the accounting for 
uncertain tax positions. Specifically, it prescribes a recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet before 
being recognized in the financial statements and provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition issues.  

We applied this guidance to all open tax positions as of June 1, 2007. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of 
the date of its adoption was $4,260. As a result of the implementation of this guidance, we recognized a $3,911 increase 
in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits with a corresponding increase in deferred tax assets, and $366 as a reduction 
to retained earnings.  

We recognize interest and penalties accrued with respect to uncertain tax positions as components of our income tax 
provision. We had accrued approximately $349 for the payment of interest and penalties as of May 31, 2007. Upon 
adoption on June 1, 2007, we increased our accrual for interest and penalties to $1,141. At May 31, 2010 and 2009, our 
accrual for interest and penalties was $2,389 and $1,900, respectively.  

The reconciliation of our unrecognized tax benefits is as follows for the fiscal years ended May 31:    

2010  2009  2008 
Balance as of June 1 $ 3,943

 

$ 3,693

 

$ 3,119

 

Increases related to prior year tax positions  748

  

250

  

574

 

Balance as of May 31 $ 4,691

 

$ 3,943

 

$ 3,693

  

The unrecognized tax benefits at May 31, 2010 and 2009, if recognized, would have no impact on the effective tax rate. 
However, the derecognition of $1,454 and $1,161 related to the associated interest and penalties at May 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively, would decrease the effective tax rate.  

We are subject to taxation in the U.S., various states and foreign jurisdictions. We have substantially settled all income tax 
matters for the United States federal jurisdiction for years through fiscal 2009. Major state jurisdictions have been 
examined through fiscal years 2004 and 2005, and foreign jurisdictions have not been examined for their respective 
maximum statutory periods.  

There were no additional unrecognized tax benefits for fiscal 2010. We anticipate no significant increase or decrease in 
the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months of the date of this report.  

For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes included the following as of May 31:    

2010  2009  2008 
Domestic $ 20,184 $ 19,182 $ 31,326

 

Foreign  (152)

  

(280)

  

2,661

  

$ 20,032 $ 18,902 $ 33,987
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The provision for income taxes consisted of the following for the fiscal years ended May 31:    

2010  2009  2008 
Current    

   
Federal $ 8,117 $ 751

 
$ 5,707 

State  1,698  968

  
1,589 

Foreign  1,427  639

  
1,954 

Deferred    

   
Federal  (2,476)

  
4,131

  
3,489 

State  (330)

  
226

  
694 

Foreign  (1)

  

435

  

(550)

  

$ 8,435 $ 7,150

 

$ 12,883 

 

The following reconciles the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective tax rate for the fiscal years ended May 31:    

2010  2009  2008 
Statutory federal rate  35.0%

  

35.0%

  

35.0%

 

State taxes, net of federal benefit  4.6  4.2  4.4 
Changes in reserves due to changes in tax estimates  1.4  (1.7)  — 
Permanent differences resulting from tax advantaged investments  —  (1.2)  (1.1) 
Permanent differences resulting from valuation allowances  1.1  1.4  (0.5) 
Other  —  0.1  0.1 
Effective tax rate  42.1%

  

37.8%

  

37.9%

  

The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to significant portions of the net deferred tax liabilities at May 31:    

2010  2009 
Deferred tax assets:     

Goodwill and intangible assets  $ 2,099  $ 2,880 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  213  126 
Deferred compensation and benefits  1,482  1,342 
Unrealized gains on securities  —  (116)

 

Tax credits  4,691  3,943 
Net operating losses  398  152 
Other  1,903  1,304 
Valuation allowance  (468)

  

(260)

   

10,318  9,371 
Deferred tax liabilities:     

Accumulated depreciation  (27,423)

  

(29,357)

 

Other  (445)

  

— 
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ (17,550)

  

$ (19,986)

  

Our effective tax rate in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was 42.1%, 37.8% and 37.9%, respectively. The lower effective rate 
in fiscal 2009 was due to a release of reserves as a result of changes in estimated tax exposures, partially offset by a 
valuation allowance relating to certain deferred tax assets of our foreign operations. The change in estimated tax 
exposures reduced tax expense by $324 in fiscal 2009. The lower effective rate in fiscal 2008 is due primarily to the 
utilization of tax loss carryforwards for our European subsidiary, and lower tax rates on earnings from our foreign 
subsidiaries. Tax advantaged investments reduced expense by $52, $237 and $393 for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. We determined that a valuation allowance was required in fiscal 2010 and 2009 of $468 and $260, 
respectively, for our deferred tax asset related to certain foreign net operating loss carry forwards and other related timing 
differences, which, if unused, will expire between fiscal 2014 and 2015. There was no valuation allowance in fiscal 2008. 
As of May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, U.S. income taxes had not been assessed on approximately $853, $1,093 and 
$1,697, respectively, of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because we consider these earnings to be invested 
indefinitely.  
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Our deferred tax assets include foreign tax credit carryforwards of $4,691, which, if unused will expire between fiscal 2011 
and 2020.  

Note 8: Sales-type Leases  

We had certain customer leases providing bargain purchase options, which are accounted for as sales-type leases. 
Interest income is recognized over the life of the lease using the effective interest method. The minimum lease payments 
receivable and the net investment included in other assets for such leases were as follows at May 31:    

2010  2009 
Gross minimum lease payments receivable $ 6,874 $ 3,247 
Less — unearned interest  (355)

  

(193)

 

Net investment in sales-type lease receivables $ 6,519 $ 3,054 

 

The following table provides estimated future minimum lease payments receivable related to sales-type leases:    

Future  
Year ending May 31,  Amortization  
2011  $ 3,677 

 

2012  2,426  
2013  726  
2014  45    

$ 6,874 

 

Note 9: Computation of Earnings Per Share  

The following is a reconciliation of the denominator used in the computation of basic and diluted EPS for the fiscal years 
ended May 31:    

2010  2009  2008 
Denominator:  

     

Denominator for basic earnings per share — weighted average common shares 
outstanding  23,932

  

24,899

  

25,910

 

Effect of dilutive options and restricted stock  72

  

81

  

169

 

Diluted shares used in per share calculation  24,004

  

24,980

  

26,079

 

Net income $ 11,597

 

$ 11,752

 

$ 21,104

 

Earnings per share:  

     

Basic $ 0.48

 

$ 0.47

 

$ 0.81

 

Diluted $ 0.48

 

$ 0.47

 

$ 0.81

  

Certain options to purchase our common stock were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share 
because to do so would have been antidilutive. The quantity of such options is 54, 72 and 38 for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively.             
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Note 10: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to pay our 
invoices. We record an allowance for doubtful accounts in amounts equal to the estimated losses expected to be incurred 
in the collection of the accounts. The estimated losses are based on historical collection experience in conjunction with an 
evaluation of the current status of the existing accounts. Customer accounts are written off against the allowance for 
doubtful accounts when an account is determined to be uncollectible. If the financial condition of our customers were to 
deteriorate, additional allowances could be required that would reduce income. Conversely, if the financial condition of the 
customers were to improve or if legal remedies to collect past due amounts were more successful than expected, the 
allowance for doubtful accounts might need to be reduced and income increased.  

A roll-forward of the allowance was as follows at May 31:     

2010  2009  2008 
Beginning of year $ 317 $ 359 $ 251 
Provision for doubtful accounts  517  481  425 
Write-offs  (298)

  

(523)

  

(317)

 

End of year $ 536 $ 317 $ 359 

 

Note 11: Rentals Under Noncancellable Operating Leases  

We rent equipment on a short-term basis and lease equipment for periods greater than 12 months. Such leases provide 
the lessee with the option of renewing the agreement for periods of up to 12 months or purchasing the equipment at fair 
market value at the end of the initial or renewal term. Our cost of equipment under operating leases at May 31, 2010, with 
remaining noncancellable lease terms of more than one year, was $8,680, before accumulated depreciation of $3,485, 
and the net book value was $5,195.  

The following sets forth a schedule of minimum future rentals to be received on noncancellable operating leases with 
remaining lease terms of more than one year as of May 31, 2010:   

2011 $ 3,522

  

2012  2,455

  

2013  646

  

2014  1

   

$ 6,624

  

Note 12: Other Property  

Other property, at cost, consisted of the following at May 31:     

2010  2009 
Land $ 6,985 $ 6,985 
Buildings  14,451  14,387 
Furniture and other equipment  8,067  7,493 
Leasehold improvements  137  123   

29,640  28,988 
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization  (16,055)

  

(15,207)

  

$ 13,585 $ 13,781 

 

Depreciation expense was $878, $835, and $1,047 for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Depreciation expense is 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses.     
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Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies  

We lease certain facilities under various operating leases. Most of the lease agreements provide us with the option of 
renewing our leases at the end of the initial lease term, at the fair rental value, for periods of up to five years. In most 
cases, we expect that in the normal course of business facility leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases.  

Minimum payments under these leases as of May 31, 2010, exclusive of property taxes and insurance, were as follows:   

2011 $ 577

  

2012  296

  

2013  46

  

2014  46

  

2015  23

   

$ 988

  

Rent expense was $1,135, $1,109, and $1,128 for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Rent expense is included in 
selling, general and administrative expenses.  

We purchase substantial amounts of rental equipment from numerous vendors. As a result, we have occasionally been 
included as a member of the plaintiff class in class action lawsuits related to product warranties or price adjustments. 
Settlements of such claims can result in distributions of cash or product coupons that can be redeemed, sold or used to 
purchase new equipment. We recognize any benefits from such settlements when all contingencies have expired to the 
extent either cash has been received and/or realization of value from any coupon is assured.  

We are subject to legal proceedings and business disputes involving ordinary and routine claims. The ultimate legal and 
financial liability with respect to such matters cannot be estimated with certainty and requires the use of estimates in 
recording liabilities for potential litigation settlements. Estimates for losses from litigation are made after consultation with 
outside counsel. If estimates of potential losses increase or the related facts and circumstances change in the future, we 
may be required to record either more or less litigation expense. We are not involved in any pending or threatened legal 
proceedings, other than routine legal proceedings and claims incidental to our business, that we believe could reasonably 
be expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows at May 31, 
2010.                       
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Note 14: Stock Option Plans and Equity Incentive Plan  

Our 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”) authorizes the Board of Directors to grant incentive and non-
statutory stock option grants, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards and 
performance unit awards covering a maximum of 1,000 shares of our common stock. The Equity Incentive Plan replaced 
our prior stock option plans (those stock option plans, together with the Equity Incentive Plan, the “Plans”) in October 
2005, although 3 options to purchase our common stock from previously granted incentive stock options and non-
statutory stock options granted to directors, officers and consultants under our prior stock option plans remain in effect 
according to their terms. Pursuant to the Plans, we have granted incentive and non-statutory options to directors, officers 
and key employees at prices not less than 100% of the fair market value on the day of grant. Options are exercisable at 
various dates over a five-year or ten-year period from the date of grant. The Plans provide for a variety of vesting dates 
with the majority of the options vesting at a rate of one-third per year over a period of three years or one-fourth per year 
over a period of four years from the date of grant. All outstanding options expire at dates ranging from July 2010 to 
October 2011.  

The following table summarizes certain information relative to options for common stock:      

Weighted      
Average     

Weighted  Remaining     
Average  Contractual  Aggregate    
Exercise  Term (in  Intrinsic   

Shares

  

Price  years)  Value 
Outstanding at May 31, 2009  369  $ 10.39

     

Granted  —  —

     

Exercised  (51)

  

8.86

     

Forfeited/cancelled  (261)

  

9.59

     

Outstanding at May 31, 2010  57  $ 15.46

  

1.0  $ 29 
Vested and expected to vest at May 31, 2010  57  $ 15.46

  

1.0  $ 29 
Vested and exercisable at May 31, 2010  57  $ 15.46

  

1.0  $ 29 

 

There were no stock options granted during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008. The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal 
2010, 2009 and 2008 was $54, $99 and $762, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference 
between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the quoted price of our common stock. The aggregate intrinsic 
value of options exercised during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $180, $383 and $695, respectively. Shares of newly 
issued common stock will be issued upon exercise of stock options.  

Restricted Stock 
We have issued restricted shares of common stock to members of our board of directors pursuant to our Equity Incentive 
Plan. We granted 7 and 2 shares of restricted stock to Board members during fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively. There 
were no grants in fiscal 2010. At May 31, 2010, there was no unrecognized share-based compensation cost related to 
restricted stock.              
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Restricted Stock Units  

Restricted stock units represent the right to receive one share of our common stock provided that the vesting conditions 
are satisfied. The following table represents restricted stock unit activity for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2010:     

Restricted  
Stock Units 

   
Weighted   
Average  

Grant  
Date  

Fair Value 

 
Nonvested at June 1, 2009  —  $ — 
Granted  166  10.22 
Vested  (16)  (11.03)

 

Canceled   —

   

—

 

Nonvested at May 31, 2010  150

  

$ 10.14

 

Expected to vest at May 31, 2010  150

  

$ 10.14

  

We granted 166 restricted stock units during fiscal 2010. No restricted stock units were granted during fiscal 2009 and 
2008. As of May 31, 2010, we have unrecognized share-based compensation cost of approximately $1,107 associated 
with restricted stock units. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.2 
years.  

The total fair value of shares that vested during fiscal 2010 was $182, which was calculated based on the closing price of 
our common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market on the applicable date of vesting.  

Accounting for Share Based Payments  

Accounting guidance requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, 
restricted stock and restricted stock units, to be recognized as compensation expense in the consolidated financial 
statements based on their fair values. Compensation expense is recognized over the period that an employee provides 
service in exchange for the award.  

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the fair value of any option grant. Our computation of 
expected volatility is based on historical volatility. Our computation of expected term is determined based on historical 
experience of similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schedules 
and expectations of future employee behavior. The expected term represents the period that our option awards are 
expected to be outstanding and was determined based on historical experience of similar awards. The risk-free interest 
rate is based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term equal to the expected term of the option at the date of 
grant. Forfeitures are estimated at the date of grant based on historical experience. We use the market price of our 
common stock on the date of grant to calculate the fair value of each grant of restricted stock and restricted stock units.  

We recorded $610, $158 and $200 of stock-based compensation as part of selling, general and administrative expenses 
for fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  

We receive a tax deduction for certain stock option exercises during the period the options are exercised, generally for the 
excess of the fair value of our common stock at the date of exercise over the exercise price of the options. Excess tax 
benefits are realized tax benefits from tax deductions for exercised options in excess of the deferred tax asset attributable 
to stock compensation costs for such options. The total tax benefit realized from stock option exercises for fiscal 2010, 
2009, and 2008 was $62, $49, and $175, respectively. Cash received from stock option exercises was $454, $1,327, and 
$1,366 for fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.        
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Note 15: Savings Plan, Employee Stock Ownership Plan and Retirement Plan  

We maintain a Savings Plan (“401(k)”) and a frozen Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”). Employees become 
eligible to participate in the 401(k) after 90 days of employment. We have the option to match contributions of participants 
at a rate we determine each year. For participants with three or more years of service, we also may elect to make 
additional discretionary matching contributions in excess of the rate elected for participants with less than three years of 
service.  

The Board of Directors determines the amount to be contributed annually to the 401(k) in cash, provided that such 
contributions shall not exceed the amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. Cash contributions to the 401(k) of 
$259, $343 and $485 were made for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

The ESOP was established in 1975 and was frozen in 1994, at which time all participants became fully vested. 
Contributions to the ESOP were invested primarily in our common stock. The ESOP held 19,181 shares of our common 
stock and cash of $120 at May 31, 2010.  

We have a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) that provides for automatic deferral of contributions in 
excess of the maximum amount permitted under the 401(k) plan for our executives who choose to participate. The SERP 
is a non-qualified deferred compensation program, and we have an unfunded contractual obligation under this plan. We 
have the option to match contributions of participants at a rate we determine each year. Cash contributions to the SERP 
were $5, $21 and $22 for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. As of May 31, 2010 and 2009, we had $2,081 and 
$1,871, respectively, of obligations for this plan included in accrued expenses. We have investments in money market and 
stock funds, as directed by the participants, of $2,081 and $1,871 as of May 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, included in 
other assets.  

Note 16: Segment Reporting and Related Disclosures  

Accounting guidance establishes reporting standards for an enterprise’s operating segments and related disclosures 
about its products, services, geographic areas and major customers. Operating segments are defined as components of 
an enterprise for which separate financial information is available that is regularly evaluated by the chief operating 
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. In order to determine our operating 
segments, we considered the following: an operating segment is a component of an enterprise (i) that engages in 
business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, (ii) whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed by the enterprise’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and (iii) for which discrete financial information is available. In accordance with this 
guidance, we have identified two operating segments: the rental, lease and sale of T&M and DP equipment.  

Although we have separate operating segments for T&M and DP equipment, these two segments are aggregated into a 
single reportable segment because they have similar economic characteristics and qualitative factors. The T&M and DP 
segments have similar long-term average gross margins, and both rent, lease and sell electronic equipment to large 
corporations, purchase directly from major manufacturers, configure and calibrate the equipment, and ship directly to 
customers.  

Our equipment pool, based on acquisition cost, comprised $310,292 of T&M equipment and $40,735 of DP equipment at 
May 31, 2010 and $293,866 of T&M equipment and $43,704 of DP equipment at May 31, 2009.          



  

F-26 

Revenues for these operating segments were as follows for the fiscal year ended May 31:    

T&M  DP  Total 
2010  

     
Rentals and leases  $ 77,874

 
$ 16,327

  
$ 94,201

 
Sales of equipment and other revenues  49,282

  
2,384

  
51,666

   
$ 127,156

 
$ 18,711

  
$ 145,867

 
2009  

     
Rentals and leases  $ 77,430

 
$ 20,965

  
$ 98,395

 

Sales of equipment and other revenues  29,054

  

3,032

  

32,086

   

$ 106,484

 

$ 23,997

  

$ 130,481

 

2008  

     

Rentals and leases  $ 85,209

 

$ 23,552

  

$ 108,761

 

Sales of equipment and other revenues  32,458

  

3,317

  

35,775

   

$ 117,667

 

$ 26,869

  

$ 144,536

  

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues during fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.  

Selected country information is presented below:   

Year ended May 31,  2010  2009  2008 

Revenues: 1  

     

U.S.  $ 124,618

  

$ 111,184

  

$ 123,396

 

Other 2  21,249

  

19,297

  

21,140

 

Total  $ 145,867

  

$ 130,481

  

$ 144,536

  

As of May 31,  2010  2009  2008 

Net Long Lived Assets: 3  

     

U.S.  $ 166,533

  

$ 151,204

  

$ 165,984

 

Other 2  25,206

  

24,672

  

25,003

 

Total  $ 191,739

  

$ 175,876

  

$ 190,987

  

1 Revenues by country are based on the location of shipping destination, whether the order originates in the U.S. parent 
or a foreign subsidiary.  

2 Other consists of other foreign countries that each individually accounts for less that 10% of the total revenues or 
assets.  

3 Net long-lived assets include rental and lease equipment, other property, goodwill and intangibles, net of accumulated 
depreciation and amortization.             
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Note 17: Quarterly Information (Unaudited)  

Summarized quarterly financial data for fiscal 2010 and 2009 was as follows:      

Total 

   
Gross 

   
Income  
Before 

   
Net 

   
Earnings per share 

   
Revenues  Profit  Taxes  Income  Basic  Diluted 

Fiscal Year 2010  

           
First Quarter  $ 32,201

 
$ 13,639

 
$ 3,639

 
$ 2,075

  
$ 0.09  $ 0.09 

Second Quarter  36,577

  
16,251

  
6,942

  
4,011

  
0.17  0.17 

Third Quarter  33,034

  

15,456

  

4,064

  

2,151

  

0.09  0.09 
Fourth Quarter  44,055

  

18,855

  

5,387

  

3,360

  

0.14  0.14 
Annual totals  $ 145,867

 

$ 64,201

 

$ 20,032

 

$ 11,597

  

$ 0.48  $ 0.48 
Fiscal Year 2009  

           

First Quarter  $ 34,986

 

$ 18,036

 

$ 6,577

 

$ 4,371

  

$ 0.17  $ 0.17 
Second Quarter  35,433

  

16,893

  

5,471

  

3,494

  

0.14  0.14 
Third Quarter  30,059

  

13,347

  

3,192

  

1,883

  

0.08  0.08 
Fourth Quarter  30,003

  

13,575

  

3,662

  

2,004

  

0.08  0.08 
Annual totals  $ 130,481

 

$ 61,851

 

$ 18,902

 

$ 11,752

  

$ 0.47  $ 0.47 

 

Note 18: Subsequent Events  

During June and July 2010, in accordance with our November 2008 Agreement with UBS, UBS purchased our remaining 
ARS of $14,275 at par value.  
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Fiscal year ended May 31,

(in thousands, except per share information) 2010 (1) 2009 2008 2007 2006

OPERATIONS DATA:

REVENUES $ 145,867 $ 130,481 $ 144,536 $ 126,859 $ 116,212

COSTS OF REVENUES AND DEPRECIATION 81,666 68,630 69,901 55,848 49,350
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 46,447 44,456 43,940 42,000 35,161
BARGAIN PURCHASE GAIN (2) (679) - - - -
INTEREST AND OTHER, NET (1,599) (1,507) (3,292) (5,440) (2,705)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 20,032 18,902 33,987 34,451 34,406
INCOME TAX PROVISION 8,435 7,150 12,883 13,402 12,222

NET INCOME $ 11,597 $ 11,752 $ 21,104 $ 21,049 $ 22,184

EARNINGS PER SHARE:

BASIC $ 0.48 $ 0.47 $ 0.81 $ 0.82 $ 0.87
DILUTED $ 0.48 $ 0.47 $ 0.81 $ 0.81 $ 0.86

SHARES USED IN PER SHARE CALCULATION:

BASIC 23,932 24,899 25,910 25,716 25,359
DILUTED 24,004 24,980 26,079 26,053 25,762

BALANCE SHEET DATA (at end of year):

TOTAL ASSETS $ 276,068 $ 271,334 $ 293,082 $ 284,819 $ 260,936
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 229,962 $ 228,753 $ 256,108 $ 243,479 $ 221,841
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY PER COMMON SHARE $ 9.60 $ 9.55 $ 9.87 $ 9.43 $ 8.68
CASH DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.45 $ 0.75 $ 0.35 $ 0.10 $ –

(1) Includes the operating results and balance sheet information of the assets acquired
from Telogy, LLC from March 31, 2010, the closing date of the acquisition.

(2) The estimated fair value of the net assets acquired from Telogy, LLC exceeded the acquisition
cost, resulting in a bargain purchase gain with respect to this transaction.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Daniel Greenberg
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

†Gerald D. Barrone
Retired, former President
and Chief Operating Officer
Coast Federal Bank

†Nancy Y. Bekavac
Retired, former President
Scripps College

*†Karen J. Curtin
Venture Partner,
Paradigm Capital Ltd.;
former Executive Vice President
Bank of America

*†Joseph J. Kearns
President
Kearns Associates

†Suzan K. DelBene
Management Consultant;
former Vice President
Microsoft Corporation

*†James S. Pignatelli
Retired, former
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Unisource Energy Corporation

*Audit Committee
†Compensation Committee

CORPORATE OFFICERS

Daniel Greenberg
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Steven Markheim
President and
Chief Operating Officer

Craig R. Jones
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Richard E. Bernosky
Vice President

Craig R. Burgi
Vice President

Dennis M. Clark
Vice President

Thomas A. Curtin
Vice President

Ronald J. Deming
Vice President

Meryl D. Evans
Vice President and
Secretary

John Hart
Vice President

CORPORATE OFFICES

6060 Sepulveda Boulevard
Van Nuys, California 91411-2512
Phone (818) 786-2525
Fax (818) 786-4354

Transfer Agent & Registrar

Registrar and Transfer Company
Cranford, New Jersey

NASDAQ Listing

Common Stock –
Trading Symbol: “ELRC”

General Counsel

Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP
Los Angeles, California

Independent Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Los Angeles, California
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CALIFORNIA

Corporate Headquarters
6060 Sepulveda Boulevard
Van Nuys, CA 91411-2512
(818) 787-2100
Fax: (818) 786-4354

Los Angeles
15385 Oxnard Street
Van Nuys, CA 91411-2506
(800) 688-1111

San Francisco
30990 Santana Street
Hayward, CA 94544-7058
(800) 688-1111

GEORGIA

2875 Breckinridge Boulevard
Suite 900
Duluth, GA 30096-8981
(800) 688-1111

ILLINOIS

200 West Mark Street
Wood Dale, IL 60191-1070
(800) 688-1111

MARYLAND

10240 Old Columbia Road
Suite D
Columbia, MD 21046-2370
(800) 688-1111

NEW JERSEY

2 Center Court
Totowa, NJ 07512-1170
(800) 688-1111

NORTH CAROLINA

901 Blairhill Road
Suite 300
Charlotte, NC 28217-1578
(800) 688-1111

TEXAS

3333 Earhart Drive
Suite 140
Carrollton, TX 75006-5163
(800) 688-1111

FLORIDA

1282 La Quinta Drive
Suite #2
Orlando, FL 32809-7709
(800) 688-1111

BELGIUM

Intercity Business Park
Generaal de Wittelaan 9/4A
B-2800 Mechelen
Belgium
32-15-740-800
0 (0) 800 1234 40 40

CANADA

210 Brunel Road
Units 1 and 2
Mississauga, Ontario L4Z 1T5
(800) 268-0216

CHINA

Electro Rent Tianjin, No. 18
Jinbin Development General
Factory
34 Muning Road
TEDA, Tianjin, 300457 China
86-22-598-3004
(800) 991-0108

10-K REPORT

A copy of the Company’s 10-K
Annual Report filed with the
Securities and Exchange
Commission is available to
shareholders upon written
request to Shareholder
Relations, 6060 Sepulveda
Boulevard, Van Nuys, CA
91411-2512

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of the
Shareholders of Electro Rent
Corporation will be held on
October 14, 2010 at 10:00 AM
at the Company’s corporate
facilities located at 6060
Sepulveda Boulevard, Van Nuys,
CA 91411-2512

RENTAL, EQUIPMENT AND SALES OFFICES
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ELECTRO RENT CORPORATION

6060 SEPULVEDA BOULEVARD

VAN NUYS, CA 91411-2512

www.electrorent.com
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